

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual **Advertising Account Executives**

Gregory Scott Christman Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons, and the Communication Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Gregory Scott Christman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Annie Brown, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Theresa Neal, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual Advertising Account

Executives

by

Gregory Scott Christman

MBA, Strayer University and the Jack Welch Management Institute, 2013

BS, Oklahoma State University, 1975

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

Abstract

Significant communication challenges experienced by leaders in managing virtual dispersed teams can hinder production schedules, completion timelines, and service to stakeholders. Grounded in situational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore communication strategies three online automotive managers used to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity in California, Washington, Oregon, and Idaho. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and a review of organizational documents, including performance reports, and were interpreted using thematic analysis. The three primary themes that emerged were (a) accountability, (b) leadership communication and engagement practices, and (c) leadership role in virtual teams. A key recommendation for virtual leaders is to implement communication strategies that support and train virtual leaders in defining their roles. The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide opportunities for community members to become employed at organizations globally while contributing to the local tax base.

Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual Advertising Account Executives

by

Gregory Scott Christman

MBA, Strayer University and the Jack Welch Management Institute, 2013

BS, Oklahoma State University, 1975

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

Dedication

I am dedicating the successful completion of my Doctor of Business

Administration degree to my late mom and dad, Gloria and Ted Christman. Their tireless support and direction of me at a young age helped form the values, ethics, and fortitude that guide me today. Mom and Dad gave me the will and desire to reach for anything that I dedicated my mind, body, and soul to. Mom and Dad taught me never to blame others but to credit these individuals for any success that I achieved. Earning a Master of Business Administration degree and then taking the deep dive to pursue and complete my Doctor of Business Administration degree is an achievement that I would never have thought possible a few years ago. I recognize just how fortunate I was to have Ted and Gloria as my parents.

Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge my best friend in life, Joni, for giving me the time to complete my terminal degree successfully. We laughed every day, which was so crucial in achieving my goal. You believed in me, which gave me the strength to keep pushing forward. Taylor (my daughter) and the rest of my family, thank you for always asking how I was doing and offering encouragement and understanding regarding what I was working to accomplish. Taylor, you are an incredible woman in all that you do. To my doctoral chair, Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, I am so blessed that you came into my life and demonstrated patience in giving me direction and defining a path for success. Dr. Dooley, you made this journey about us, leaning into me to where I was at any given moment. Your guidance will always be remembered and used with others who I may be fortunate enough to mentor.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	2
	Problem Statement	3
	Purpose Statement	4
	Nature of the Study	5
	Interview Questions	6
	Conceptual Framework	7
	Operational Definitions	8
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
	Assumptions	9
	Limitations	10
	Delimitations	10
	Significance of the Study	11
	Contribution to Business Practice	12
	Implications for Social Change	12
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
	Situational Leadership Theory	14
	Virtual Teams	21
	Leadership in Virtual Teams	36
	Communication Strategies for Virtual Teams	39
	Communication Standards for Virtual Leadership	41

Emotional Intelligence and Leadership	44
The Impacts of New Technology Resources on Virtual Teams	48
Transition	51
Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	53
Participants	57
Research Method and Design	59
Research Method	59
Research Design.	61
Population and Sampling	62
Ethical Research	6
Data Collection Instruments	67
Data Collection Technique	68
Data Organization Technique	70
Data Analysis	71
Reliability and Validity	75
Reliability	75
Validity	76
Transition and Summary	81
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	82
Introduction	Q^

Presentation of the Findings	83
Theme 1: Accountability	83
Theme 2: Leadership Communication and Engagement Practices	87
Theme 3: Leadership Role of Virtual Teams	89
Relevance of the Findings to the Literature	92
Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework	94
Effective Business Practices	96
Document Analysis	97
Triangulation of Data Sources	97
Applications to Professional Practice	98
Recommendations for Action	100
Recommendations for Further Research	101
Reflections	102
Conclusion	103
References	105
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	144
Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation	147

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Virtual teams in organizations have continued to grow exponentially. A survey of virtual teams in 2016 found that 85% of the corporate respondents in the U.S. work in virtual teams (Hacker et al., 2019). Organizational leaders consider virtual teams an essential work system for companies to achieve their goals. Although it may seem easy for companies and their leadership to set up virtual teams, it is more challenging to lead virtual teams (Morrison-Smith & Ruiz, 2020). Leaders in virtual teams must adjust their corporation's structure to become less hierarchical to remain competitive (Contreras, 2020). Virtual team leaders have continued to examine and learn new methods and techniques to develop their teams. Although there are challenges related to ongoing changes in digital technology (Cortellazzo et al., 2019), virtual teams have become a part of the physical nature of teams and the organizations they represent.

The concept of virtual teams holds excellent promise, although challenges remain. The team configuration may accomplish positive outcomes like swift product development and improved networking that collocated teams cannot (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017). One of the virtual team structure fundamentals is communication, a strategic team performance indicator (Sonmez Cakir & Adiguzel, 2020). Virtual leaders are pivotal in the virtual team's performance due to their virtual communication participation with team members (Gilson et al., 2015). Leadership influences communication in tasks and builds relationships critical to success (Liao, 2017). One of the fundamental competencies that leaders must learn is building high trust levels at all team levels. Virtual teams with substantial autonomy demonstrate superior trust versus weak independence (Choi & Cho,

2018). In this study, I explored communication strategies that virtual leaders use to maintain and enhance the productivity of their virtual sales teams.

Background of the Problem

Business leaders began to introduce work teams in the 1960s. In the 1980s, the team structure morphed into the total quality management movement (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). By the mid-1990s, an increasing number of companies, such as Goodyear, General Electric, and Motorola, began to export the team concept globally (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). In the 21st-century, communication technology offers leaders and organizations global resources and the capacity to function anywhere in the world. The concept of virtual teams also presents several different challenges. One of the significant challenges is how to lead geographically dispersed teams. There is a need for studies on different leadership styles in virtual teams (Batirlik et al., 2022). The leadership in organizations has continued to evolve from leading traditional collocated work structures to a virtual team dynamic that operates across time, space, and distance. The reliance on virtual teams and the leader's ability to bring together knowledgeable workers, combined with their agility in making the best decisions, has driven the realignment of conventional, hierarchical team structures (Jimenez et al., 2017). E-leadership must consolidate and effectively lead virtual teams and achieve and exceed the objectives defined by the organizational hierarchy (Contreras et al., 2020). The business problem is the disconnect in how leaders communicate strategies that motivate virtual workers to maintain and enhance productivity.

Advances in technology have made it easier to connect with virtual teams.

Miscommunication between leaders and their teams using electronic communication may, however, create roadblocks for leaders and their followers (Arendt et al., 2019)). Virtual teams also continue to have challenges stemming from trust-related issues among the organization's members (Owens & Khazanchi, 2017). Morrison-Smith and Ruiz (2020) suggested that miscommunication between team members may also cause barriers and untimely work assignments. Trust is considered leadership. Unity and enabling team empowerment is vital to the success of virtual teams(Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). The issue of trust is a reliable indicator of the performance of virtual teams.

The relationship between trust and performance suggests that there are opportunities for additional study (Guinot & Chiva, 2019). Virtual team leaders must develop a unique leadership skill that fosters team cohesion in building a highly functional virtual team (Liao, 2017). The level of success in organizational achievement depends on the unique development and training of virtual leaders in trust, emotional intelligence, and respectful communication between all parties up and down organizations (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Competencies for the leaders of virtual teams must include a working knowledge of individual team functions based on distinct team roles, comfort levels, and skill set evaluation (Zeuge et al., 2020). Understanding the core competencies needed for virtual leadership effectiveness is vital to the leader's success and virtual teams.

Problem Statement

Amid the growth of virtual teams, many leaders struggle to effectively lead their followers. Problems include formalizing virtual teamwork processes and communication

strategies (Mehtab et al., 2017). A lack of trust often impacts communication and decreases productivity between leaders and virtual teams (Humala, 2017). Trust has a vital role in and positive influence on virtual team performance (Gardner et al., 2020). Verbal communication constitutes only 45% of communication (Savu, 2019). The centrality of nonverbal communication to meaning making can thus be problematic for virtual teams. The general business problem is that managing a virtual workforce requires further communication and leadership strategies to achieve organizational outcomes. The specific business problem was that some online automotive managers lack communication strategies to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study was to explore the communication strategies that some online automotive managers in one organization used to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity. The target population was three virtual leaders located at the same organization in the United States who had experienced success in leading virtual sales teams in the online automotive industry. Identification of their strategies for achieving success could be useful to other team leaders wanting to increase team and organizational performance metrics. A positive social change could be more motivated employees who have greater job satisfaction and less employee turnover. Satisfied workers may potentially create a better standard of living for themselves, their families, and their communities. Employees are more willing to make greater efforts for an employer that genuinely promotes for the greater good of

the community (Tonin, 2020). Motivated employees are more eager to support social responsibilities outside the home to support their communities.

Nature of the Study

The chosen method for this study was qualitative. The qualitative method was appropriate for exploring leaders' specific communications strategies to maintain the high productivity of virtual sales teams. Researchers can gain significant insights and understand a phenomenon using the qualitative method. Qualitative theorists believe in multiple potential realities and use inductive theorizing to understand a phenomenon (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2016). A researcher selects the qualitative method to explore a social phenomenon in depth (Moalusi, 2020). The qualitative method was thus appropriate to elicit detailed descriptions of communication strategies used by leaders with virtual teams.

Researchers use the quantitative method to analyze statistical relationships among variables or characteristics (Marshall & Rossman, 2016. I rejected the quantitative method because answering the research question did not require explaining the features of or relationships among study variables. Mixed-methods research is a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods; researchers use it to address the strengths and weaknesses of each method (Regnault et al., 2018). Mixed-methods research was not appropriate for this study because there was no need to examine the characteristics of study variables or investigate differences among groups. Therefore, the qualitative method was appropriate for addressing the descriptive research question in this study.

The chosen research design for this study was a single case study. Yin (2018)

argued that a single case study is similar to a single experiment to include similar conditions that justify using a single case study. The single case study is better than a multiple case design when the study focus is on a particular organization or a defined group (Yin, 2018), as was the case in this research. I considered the phenomenological design but determined that the design was not appropriate as I was not attempting to describe the personal meanings of participants' lived experiences (Neubauer et al., 2019). An ethnographic design was also not appropriate for this research because there was no focus on studying human beings and their social relationships to characterize a group's culture (Black, 2021). For these reasons, I used a single case study design to explore the participants' strategies to motivate their specific virtual sales teams.

Research Question

What are the communication strategies that some online automotive managers use to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity?

Interview Questions

The 10 interview questions were as follows:

- 1. What communication strategies did you use in developing trust with the goal of maintaining productivity?
- 2. What communications strategies did you use to assess the productivity of the virtual sales team members?
- 3. What communication strategies did you use with virtual sales team members who were not maintaining productivity?
- 4. What communication strategies did you implement to validate that everyone

- on your virtual sales team had a working knowledge of maintaining productivity?
- 5. What communication strategies did you use with virtual sales team members to exceed expectations and maintain productivity?
- 6. What communication strategies were least effective in motivating virtual sales team members to maintain productivity?
- 7. What communication strategies did you use to follow up with virtual sales team members for maintaining productivity?
- 8. What communication strategies did you use to reduce risks and uncertainty in maintaining your virtual teams' productivity?
- 9. What communication strategies, if any, did you use to manage disputes between what you, as a leader, have defined as acceptable methods of maintaining productivity and what your virtual sales teams think is fair?
- 10. What additional information about communication strategies you use to maintain your virtual sales teams' productivity would you like to share that we did not address in this interview?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for the study was the situational leadership model by Hersey and Blanchard (1969). The situational leadership model proposes a partnership based on a leader's working knowledge of the individual's developmental needs (Benmira & Agboola, 2021). Hersey and Blanchard (1997) suggested that elite leaders select the best leadership style based on their followers' ability to respond effectively to different

situations. Leaders must have the core competency to assess the problem and then apply the correct style to address it (Hersey & Blanchard, 1981). The four situational styles are (a) telling, (b) selling, (c) participating, and (d) delegating (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). The key to a leader and follower relationship's success is that the leaders must also know that the follower is ready and willing to take on the task assigned (Hersey & Blanchard, 1969). Situational leadership offers leaders the correct management practices and leadership qualities to effectively attain organizational goals (Islam et al., 2021). The situational leadership model aligned with this study's purpose by providing a lens to explore and understand the various communication strategies and practices that virtual leaders used in motivating their virtual sales teams to maintain productivity.

Operational Definitions

I use the following terms and phrases throughout this doctoral study. The identified terms and definitions are necessary for developing a working knowledge of the conceptual framework and research topic.

Communication standards: As applied to virtual teams, standards that emphasize the suitable exchange of information, continuous follow-up, and interaction, combined with less vagueness, better measurement processes, and faster response times, to ensure team success (Cortellazzo et al., 2019).

Communication strategies: The usage of various communication tools to avoid miscommunication; the tools should align with the defined work (Gilson et al., 2015).

Leadership: The influence that one or more individuals have over their followers (Kumar, 2018).

Situational leadership theory: A theory that emphasizes employees' task and relationship behavior as well as the team's current readiness related to a specific task or project (Hersey & Blanchard, 2013).

Virtual team leadership: Management of a specified number of followers who are distributed across multiple geographic locations (Batirlik et al., 2022).

Virtual teams: A dispersed team of employees who use computer-aided technology to interact independently across space, time, and organizational boundaries (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017).

Virtual team trust: A belief shared by all team members when addressing the team members' hesitation and exposure to a specific item of discussion (Choi & Cho, 2018).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are the unverified thoughts of a researcher. Assumptions are presumed to be accurate at the study's outset, although the actual outcome of the study may not be correct under any circumstance (Yin, 2018). One of my assumptions was that the study participants were versed in communication strategies that enhanced their virtual teams' performance. I assumed that the participants were the best performers in terms of leading virtual sales teams in the study organization. Another assumption was that the participants would be forthright and truthful in answering each interview question. After receiving the published results, I anticipate that the participants will share the identified communication strategies with their virtual teams and other leaders. Furthermore, I assume positive social change through job performance resulting in higher earned

incomes and greater job satisfaction.

Limitations

Limitations are the weaknesses of a study. These potential vulnerabilities may be beyond the researcher's command (Theofanidis & Antigoni, 2019). One of the limitations of this study concerns the credibility and dependability of the data collected from the frontline leaders selected for the study. The frontline managers may have responded to the interview questions based on their immediate leader's direction versus offering strategies that they used when working with their team members. This case study also has limitations in terms of its sample size, which limits the transferability of the findings. Yin (2018) noted that one of the concerns of case study design is the inability to generalize or transfer the results to other venues. Interviewing the virtual leaders and not their team members is a limitation because trust is vital vertically and horizontally between leaders and followers (Choi & Cho, 2019). Interviewing the leaders and their followers would have allowed me to validate the level of trust between the leaders and their followers.

Delimitations

Delimitations relate to the decisions that the researcher makes when conceptualizing and conducting a study. Theofanidis and Antigoni (2019) defined delimitations as the study decisions that the study's researcher consciously explains. The delimitations can include the theoretical background, objectives, research questions, study variables, and sample (Theofanidis & Antigoni, 2019). The conceptual framework for this proposed study was the situational leadership model by Hersey and Blanchard (1969). The situational leadership model is a partnership based on a leader's working

knowledge of the individual's developmental needs and assigned to the leader (Benmira & Agboola, 2021). My selection of situational leadership limited the potential depth of analysis, as did other factors, including the sample size, organization type, geographic location of participants, and the data collection method. I selected the three leaders over a large geographic area, including Washington, Oregon, and Idaho. Each participant was an employee of the same organization. The primary delimitations include the research question, the research design, the participants' physical location, the selection of the conceptual framework, and the population. The delimitations constituted the foundation of the study.

The three leaders participating in the study had successfully used communication strategies that helped them to maintain and increase productivity within their markets located in the United States. At the time of the study, each of the three virtual leaders worked for the most extensive online listing of automobile sales in the United States. The three leaders each had 2 or more years' experience of exceptionally successful leadership and building trust among the members of their virtual sales teams. In my interviews, I asked the same 10 questions. I conducted a qualitative single case study to explore the research question, which concerned communication strategies that virtual leaders use to enhance communication strategies to enhance their virtual teams' performance.

Significance of the Study

Virtual online automotive managers may consider the findings of this study to be of value in offering communication strategies that improve their teams' performance.

Increased knowledge of multiple strategies may reduce costs and increase virtual teams'

productivity and motivation (Ji & Yan, 2020). Benefits occur in society when employees are productive, engaged, motivated, and generally satisfied with what they produce (Van Wingerden & Van der Stoep, 2018). As leaders value their employees' contributions, they may be able to achieve a transformation that spreads throughout the organization and beyond. By improving profitability, organizations' leaders may benefit local communities by increasing profits to fund educational programs and job opportunities.

Contribution to Business Practice

Virtual team leaders are searching for strategies to improve performance to maintain and increase productivity (Mehtab et al., 2017). Some virtual leaders may not fully trust that virtual teams are successful without traditional face-to-face interactions (Mehtab et al., 2017). Virtual team leaders may use this study's results as a guide in developing and motivating successful virtual teams. Implications include improved virtual sales team productivity and work performance and improved overall organizational performance.

Implications for Social Change

The study organization is a business located in all 50 U.S. states. As such, the leaders of other U.S. companies may be able to implement or adapt the study findings to maintain and grow productivity among their virtual teams. The implications for social change could be increased revenue to offer virtual sales staff employment opportunities for benefiting needy citizens. Inspired employees participate more in local events and activities than unmotivated employees (Laurent et al., 2021). Employees with higher job satisfaction levels are more motivated and less likely to become unemployed, thus

reducing unemployment rates (Dorendahl et al., 2020). Thus, the study's implications for positive social change include contributions to overall economic growth for local communities that benefits citizens and families

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study was to explore the communication strategies that some online automotive managers in one organization used to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity. The research question was. What are the communication strategies that some online automotive managers use to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity? Some of the tools managers use include analysis of dealer activity reports, one-on-one teaching opportunities, and a variety of technology communications devices to motivate their sales team members (Morrison-Smith & Ruiz, 2020). In reviewing the academic literature, I identified communication strategies that offer virtual leaders the best opportunity to support their teams' productivity. The literature review includes peer-reviewed articles and other sources from databases and search engines such as Emerald Management Journals, SAGE Premier, Google Scholar, Business Source Complete, and Walden University's ScholarWorks repository of dissertations. Search terms included virtual productivity, virtual performance, leading virtual teams, situational leadership, virtual teams, e-leadership behaviors, workforce speed in decision-making, and trust. The final study includes 260 references, of which 80.37% were published between 2017 and 2022.

In this literature review, I discuss the conceptual framework of situational leadership theory. The purpose of reviewing the literature was to (a) identify gaps in the

literature, (b) build my knowledge of the research topic applicable to the purpose of the study, and (c) explore communication strategies used by leaders to enhance the productivity of virtual advertising account executives. The eight main discussion topics for the literature review are virtual teams, trust in virtual teams, leadership, advantages and disadvantages, leadership, communication strategies, communication standards, emotional intelligence, and technology resources. I explore three subtopics: the origins of virtual teams, obstacles facing virtual teams, and enhancing virtual team success. The literature review sections are all linked to the research question and problem statement.

Situational Leadership Theory

Leadership is the art of bringing a group of people together to accomplish a goal. The concept of leadership has existed since people first gathered into groups to achieve shared objectives (Asrar-ul-Haq & Anwar, 2018). Several researchers have sought to determine if leaders are born with specific personality traits, including intelligence, honesty, self-confidence, appearance, and energy (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). The trait leadership theory was the initial theory that emerged to describe leaders and what makes them successful.

Trait Leadership Theory defines a specific set of leadership characteristics (Asrar & Anwar, 2018). Extensive research indicates that leadership characteristics are wideranging and that no one leadership style determines organizational success (Asrar & Anwar, 2018). Because the leadership traits approach did not yield the best set of leadership attributes, researchers began to explore other alternatives based on leaders' behaviors and followers' satisfaction and performance (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018).

Leadership style, they have found, is a significant element in determining individual and team success. Management researchers have extensively examined the different leadership styles that influence employee performance (Ghazzawi et al., 2017). The discussion of organizational leadership is a multidisciplinary field, though, and is an area of continuous interest by scholars with backgrounds focused not just on management but on sociology, political science, and organizational studies (Ghazzawi et al., 2017).

Situational leadership theory is often cited in academic literature as one of the most recognizable leadership theories and is commonly used in leadership training programs, but it is one of the least-researched views relating to leadership effectiveness (Thompson & Glaso, 2018). I drew from Hersey and Blanchard's (1969) situation leadership model for this study. Hersey and Blanchard (1977) determined that successful leaders engage in the best style centered around the followers' readiness to be led. Situational leadership theory, also referred to as contingency theory of leadership, studies task and behavior relationships (Fielder, 1967). The initiating structure or task-oriented leadership is the degree to which a leader explicitly defines their team members' roles and focuses on achieving goals to include specific communication methods (Mikkelson et al., 2019). Other models address situational leadership.

According to Fielder (1967), there is no singular type of leading. Fielder argued that leaders are either task-oriented or relationship-oriented. A conclusion from the situational leadership model is that leaders should not adopt a singular leadership style. The appropriate leadership style should be directly related to the readiness of the followers.

The building of sound and transparent relationships is vital to leaders' success in the situational leadership model. Bourke and Titus (2020) suggested that relationship-oriented leaders are defined by demonstrating concern for their team and genuinely looking out for their general welfare in addition to expressing appreciation for their contribution. Task-oriented leaders, Kleefstra (2019) focus on the details to include having all tasks completed before making any decisions, included those that affect the trust and respect of their followers. Both task-oriented and relationship-oriented leadership positively affects team performance (Mikkelson et al., 2019). Successful leaders must align their leadership style with the task capabilities of the team members.

The balancing of tasks and relationships is essential in leading teams. Situational leadership theory offers a balance between task behavior and relationship behavior based on the employees' or the maturity of the team's current readiness related to a specific task or project (Hersey & Blanchard, 2013). The combination of maturity and preparedness is the sum of competence, task-relevant knowledge, and skills that are easily transferred (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). Situational leadership theory includes four different levels of maturity and readiness.

Situational leadership consists of multiple dimensions. The first concerns employees with low-level maturity/readiness who are too new to the position or lack sufficient job knowledge, skills, and confidence by completing the task themselves (Hersey et al., 2001). Hersey and Blanchard (1969) explained that followers who might moderate maturity/readiness might also desire to execute the task but lack specific experiences and education to complete the task successfully. Next are employees or

teams with high maturity and readiness; they may have the core competency to do the work, but they lack the confidence to achieve success (Hersey et al., 2001). The final grouping of employees possesses the motivation and readiness to do the work independently, maintain high levels of confidence, commitment, and persuasive skills, and assume personal ownership of the task (Hersey & Blanchard, 2013). The opportunity for leadership success is selecting the right leadership style that aligns with the individual's or team's maturity and readiness level based on the defined situation (Felicity & Price-Dowd, 2020). Leaders' challenge is to know what style to use with employees and teams and when to do so.

There is not just one leadership style that guarantees success. As Hersey and Blanchard (1982) noted, effectively executing the four basic styles presents leaders and their team members the best opportunity to succeed. Leaders may select from four different styles when directing their employees and teams. A leader with a telling style uses a who, what, when, and how approach whereas a leader with moderate maturity/readiness uses a selling style that encourages employees or team to buy into the direction, goals, and objectives they are assigned. A leader with higher maturity/readiness levels uses a participating style to perform the tasks. Leaders use one or multiple styles when motivating individual team members but primarily depend on one style (Hersey & Blanchard, 1982). Employees with high maturity and readiness only look to their leader for empowerment.

Studies have shown that leaders often possess two leadership styles, one for leading individuals and one for teams (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). Leaders use their

primary style to encourage a specific individual or the team. Leaders lean on their primary style as their default style when leading individual followers and the team (Hersey & Blanchard, 1974). Leaders tend to engage in one leadership style over others (Henkel & Bourdeau, 2018). Some leaders demonstrate only one leadership style with no secondary backup.

Leaders can possess more than two leadership styles. Some leaders, for instance, may use three different leadership styles that they use, depending on the individual and circumstance (Hersey & Blanchard, 2013). Hersey (2009) suggested that when a leader uses their primary or secondary leadership style, the result should be the same; to be successful, leaders must communicate expectations clearly. Leaders must validate that every employee on the team understands the goals and objectives of completing the task. Thompson and Glaso (2018) argued that when the leader and follower come together and form a "partnership for performance," agreeing on a direction that includes competencies and commitment, the opportunity for success by the follower increases substantially. Successful leaders in virtual teams effectively manage, plan, organize, and direct the principles that lead to organizational success.

Throughout history, leaders have turned to different leadership theories to manage people correctly. Ghazzzai et al. (2017) suggested that situational leadership focuses on task orientation and relationship orientation. Hersey and Blanchard (2001) argued that good leadership positively influences workers while working diligently to achieve the corporation's objectives. Although it has often been overlooked, situational leadership is an effective leadership style for motivating employees of different backgrounds, business

roles, and industries (Ghazzawi et al., 2017).

Leading in virtual teams can be different from traditional, collocated team structures. The goal in organizations is always to win, but how virtual leaders win can differ in a virtual team structure. As an example leaders in virtual teams engage more often with their team members than in collated teams (Chamakiotis, 2021).. Situational leadership theory has made positive strides in understanding the relationship between virtual leaders and team members (Thompson & Glaso, 2018). Leaders who have embraced situational leadership theory have treated their followers as individuals. Virtual leaders should have the talent and skills to develop their followers and promote success.

Leaders may disagree on the follower's self-evaluation of competency and commitment to their work. Thompson and Glaso (2018) used a leader-follower approach as a moderator variable to measure the degree of agreement between how the leader rates the follower competency and commitment versus the follower's self-rating They found that leaders and their team member may disagree when assessing the team members' development until the leader and follower gain a higher level of agreement with one another.

There can be disagreements between the leader and follower as the follower's may evaluate their skills inaccurately or have an unrealistic self-perception may include being too modest in evaluating their skills and potential strengths. Yan and Carles (2021) suggested that follower self-assessment is not an accurate score. Thompson and Glaso (2018) concluded by suggesting that Blanchard's three-way predictions interactions can overcome any limitations in testing the validity of situational leadership theory.

Reliability is essential when evaluating the follower's self-evaluations.

Reliability is a vital tool when aligning follower self-evaluation and competency. The situational leadership style predictions are reliable when the leaders evaluate the followers' self-evaluation of competency and alignment (Thompson & Glaso, 2018). The leader's objective is to know just how much direction and support they should be offering their team members. Multiple researchers have explored the topic of situational leadership. It is one of the most recognized and popular leadership models (Thompson & Glaso, 2018).

Reflecting its popularity, there are different models for situational leadership (Blanchard et al., 1993; Hersey & Blanchard, 1996; Hersey et al., 2001). The situational leadership model (Blanchard et al., 1985, 2013) is a widely accepted model that proposes four different leadership styles that define how leaders direct and motivate their virtual teams. The Directing S1 style is directive, combined with a low level of leader support behavior. The Coaching S2 is driven by a high level of direction and support from the leader. The Supporting S3 style offers low direction to the follower, and the leaders demonstrate a high level of behavior support. The Delegating S4 provides low levels of direction and poor supportive behavior by the leader. The best possible outcome is the alignment between the follower and the leader (Blanchard et al., 1985, 2013).

Researchers have found that when leaders use more objective means of measurement, they elicit more exceptional agreement, performance, and overall satisfaction from their followers (Zigarmi & Roberts, 2016). Alignment between the leader and their followers is paramount in the overall success and satisfaction of the team.

Virtual Teams

Virtual teams are an assembly of people who work independently for a common purpose. Workers assigned to virtual teams work independently for a defined reason (Saxena, 2017). Although there were many different virtual teams, their one foundational characteristic was that their members could not meet face-to-face (Serrate, 2017). The virtual team members' independence depended on their group goal, although individual team members work across distance and potentially numerous time zones. Using technology innovation in communication was the underlying reason for virtual teams' existence (Gilson et al., 2015). As technological advancements multiply in organizations, virtual teams proliferated (Gilson et al., 2015). Organizations and their virtual teams have become increasingly agile and adapt to the environment's changes and playing field (Arunprasad et al., 2022). Over time and space, virtual teams need to adjust to the many changes in any organization's environment.

The advances in communication include many new technology forms (email, cell phones, text messaging, teleconferencing Zoom, GoToMeeting, Skype, and others).

These technologies offered organizations the opportunity to form and lead virtual teams. Virtual teams are no longer an anomaly as virtual teams and their members come from different business segments, genders, experiences, and backgrounds (Bartik et al., 2020). There are four key characteristics of virtual teams: (a) virtual teams are temporary by design, (b) culturally diverse with their members coming together with different expertise, (c) geographically dispersed, (d) communicates electronically using a variety of other technologies that eliminate boundaries between the members of virtual teams

(Bartik et al., 2020). Virtual teams' end goal was to find the best solutions to complex problems and opportunities in an ever-changing global environment.

Virtual teams are becoming more prevalent in organizations. The competitiveness of virtual teams offers corporations the flexibility to make decisions with greater agility and execution. Much of the research associated with virtual teams is face-to-face versus study. I am studying virtual teams through the lens of video conferencing, where there is little or no face-to-face interaction. The goal was to go beyond additional face-to-face study, adding a new view that looks at leaders' communication strategies to enhance virtual advertising account executives' productivity using video conferencing as the discovery tool.

Origins of Virtual Teams

The origins of virtual teams resulted from finding solutions to complicated problems. When virtual teams first came into existence, their first use and formation were to bring people together for short-term projects (Lipnack & Stamps, 1999). Virtual teams have progressed far beyond their original intent in organizations. The origins of virtual teams date back to the 1960s and, at that time, were referred to as work teams (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). Virtual team descriptions came in many different forms. Virtual teams can be stable with an established team base as members can move in and out of the team consistently and easily (Orhan, 2017). Virtual team members can also come from the same organization or other differing organizations (Orhan, 2017). The growth of virtual teams began in the 1960s.

The chronological growth of virtual teams dates back to the 1960s. Virtuality has

grown exponentially from an individual level centered around individual tasks to team virtuality (Kiely et al., 2021). Following the work-team concept came the next evolution spurred on by the Total Quality Management movement in the 1980s (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). Total Quality Management was a principle that all team members must be committed to maintaining high work standards in all organization areas. The next updated iteration came about in the latter part of the 1980s and into the 1990's when many organizations began introducing self-managed teams and empowered them to make their own decisions (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). By the late 1990s, the team concept was being exported worldwide by United States corporations and their enterprises abroad (Ebrahirm et al., 2009). There is not just one size that fits all for virtual teams.

Virtual teams came in many different sizes and shapes based on the needs of the organization. Virtual team configurations included organizational (short and long-term), functional versus project-based teams, and differing task types (Gibbs et al., 2017). Examples of virtual teams exist in multiple configurations. Virtual teams can have a formal leader; others may be self-managed teams based on the team members' qualifications. Virtual teams may have current relationships, while other members come from different cultures and other locations globally (Gibbs et al., 2017). Virtual teams are often organized based on technical needs and expertise (Gibbs et al., 2017). The enhancements and usage of information communication technology tools have made it cheaper, more comfortable, and faster to use synchronous technology, making it easier to communicate between members in virtual teams (Orhan, 2017). Leading virtual teams requires specialized training in learning how to engage in leading virtual teams, trust,

communication, virtual work environments, and defining employee motivation and engagement (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Leadership within organizations will continue to make virtual team changes based on their organizations' needs, sustainability, and relevancy.

Obstacles Facing Virtual Leaders

Virtual teams face unique challenges that traditional brick and mortar leaders do not have to work on daily. The phenomenon was leading virtual teams was different than that of face-to-face interaction. Virtual teams and their leaders are dependent on impersonal methods of electronic communication. To that point leaders in virtual teams should consider reading all of the personal and detailed nuances in electronic exchange up to and down the organization. According to (Maduka et al., 2018), virtual leaders' most critical challenge is integrating personal life and work demands. Like their team members, virtual leaders may work from home and find difficulty balancing work and family (Maduka et al., 2018). As technology changes the opportunities for communication between leaders and their followers, frustration may take hold of the team because insufficient new technology quantities make it easier to communicate and be successful (Maduka et al., 2018). Having the best technology was not the principal determiner of a virtual team's success.

How virtual teams organize the work was different from that of a traditional brick-and-mortar team. The nature of work was changing in virtual teams, and so was the organizing of the work that virtual leaders perform (Torre & Sarti, 2020). Virtual teams and their leaders were more than just a conglomeration of broadband, connected devices,

and tools that offer technology connectivity. Successful virtual teams and their leaders demonstrate respect for everyone on the team, knowing and accepting that everyone were different (Pullan, 2016). Defining a common ground for the leader and their followers was a good starting point.

Within the structure of virtual teams, the team members must be successful in collaborating. Lau et al. (2021) argued that virtual teams were successful because they have a diverse background in education and work experiences. Virtual team members must work in close collaboration to maximize their effectiveness. Leaders in virtual teams had a direct effect on how effective teams work together. Successful virtual leaders provide ongoing training, resource allocation and, more importantly, created an environment that develops high collaboration levels between team members and their relationship with the leader (Liao, 2017). The assembly of virtual team members from assembling a diverse team consisting of different work experiences can positively or hinder the team's overall performance.

The lack of face-to-face contact between virtual team members may negatively affect collaboration between members. Liao (2017) argued that virtual leaders must be conscious of the conflict that can arise because workers can reside in a large geographic area. The solution is to initiate virtual parties that can open communication between team members and leadership. Although virtual leaders have to focus on the team's overall success, leaders should know that it is the summation of individual performance that determines a virtual team's success. Leaders in virtual teams recognize the team's value in its entirety. Those leaders who are the most successful intellectually know that they have

to lead and guide each team member individually (Lau et al.,2021). One of the obstacles facing virtual leaders were how virtual leaders manage the efforts displayed by the team members

Explicit management was a challenge for virtual leaders. In virtual teams, leaders explicitly define each team member's requirements if they work collaboratively to successfully execute the desired outcome of projects (Liao, 2017). The virtual team leaders play a vital role in the training, guiding personnel, coaching, providing resources, and enabling the virtual team's relationship building (Liao, 2017). Teams that perform at successful levels do so because there are high levels of consistent communication between the leader and their followers, creating trust and engagement up and down the team's structure (Rhmadani et al., 2020). Virtual leaders face challenges associated with the varying skill levels of their team.

Where there are highly skilled and functional teams, leaders can share leadership responsibilities. Teams that have less experienced members can affect the success of the virtual team. Among teams with skills that require additional development, leaders must take a more authoritative leadership style to achieve the desired objectives (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Teams with highly skilled workers but have a centralized authoritarian figure leading the team can negatively influence the team results and performance over the longer term (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Autonomy was an essential factor in the success of virtual teams. The level to which leaders offer autonomous decision-making directly affects the team members' relationships, including the team's readiness to share knowledge (Schippers & Rus, 2021). The concept of trust was key to individual team

members' overall success and the virtual leader's mutual trust.

Trust in Virtual Teams

Trust was one of the most studied subjects in virtual teams' discussion and how vital trust was in virtual teams' success and the organizations they represent. The topic of trust has received increased attention in the debate on virtual team performance (Gilson et al., 2015). Trust was the number one component that defines virtual team members (Breuer et al., 2016). Where there was trust vertically and horizontally within a vertical team, and the results were apparent in several characteristics relating to trust and the team's success. Katzenbach and Smith (2015) identified seven factors of high performing teams, (a) solid personal commitment to each other's development and success, (b) a definite sense purpose is established, (c) goals were set high for individuals and the team, (d) plans were well-developed; (e) clear accountability for everyone on the team, (f) skill sets were duplicated and align directly with the needs of the assignment, (g) members of the group shared the leadership. Long-distance communication between members of virtual teams was vital in finding solutions to complicated situations.

Trust between team members was vital to their success. Zhu and Lee (2017) suggested a need for a high level of trust between team members. One area that impacts trust in virtual teams was the use of different forms of technology capabilities. Owens and Khazanchi (2017) suggested various forms of technology used in communicating with team members were valuable in team collaboration. Specific technology platforms such as e-mail, Facebook chat, Google docs, Zoom, Skype, and GoToMeeting were vital communication tools in team members' trust and productivity (Jimenez et al., 2017).

Communication between leaders and followers is paramount in creating trust in a virtual team.

Virtual teams' core responsibility were that they work together, collaborating in finding solutions to complicated assignments. Companies and their groups must find alternatives in leading organizations' methods to become productive and successful (Middleton, 2021). Collaboration in virtual teams occurs when two or more members successfully achieve mutually beneficial outcomes because of the mutual working relationship (To & Ko, 2016). Literature showed that shared decision-making in virtual organizations were vital to trust and success in the team experiences (Choi & Cho, 2018). Organizations can differ in the degree of autonomy of the members of the team. High levels of trust may profoundly affect the team's collaboration in how they come to solutions (Breuer et al., 2016). Trust was affected by how well teams and leadership communicate with each other.

Trust and performance were directly related to the alignment of the leader and their followers. Trust does affect the behaviors of the team. Trust in the team members was the key variable that affects team members' actions (Baker et al., 2016). According to Choi and Cho (2018), trust does affect virtual teams' interactions and outcomes. Virtual team trust was a belief shared by all team members when addressing the team members' hesitation and exposure (Choi & Cho, 2018). Studies have shown that one of the disadvantages of virtual teams and the trust quotient is there was no face-to-face contact. Flavin et al. (2019) argued that when there was little or no face-to-face contact discussion in virtual teams and electronic technology were required to communicate, communication

coordination becomes more difficult to accomplish. When there is little or no trust in virtual teams, the results were a valid predictor of team performance (Breuer et al., 2020). A direct relationship exists between trust and performance in virtual teams.

The level to which virtual teams perform directly relates to the trust level between team members and their leaders. Individual performance and overall team performance directly correlate with each other in determining if there are either high levels or lower levels of trust among team members and their leader (Breuer et al., 2020). Where there is trust among virtual team members, there was also alignment based on the three dimensions of virtual teams: (a) cooperation, (b) coordination, and (c) knowledge sharing (Choi & Cho, 2018). Combining these three dimensions offers leaders and team members the best opportunity to achieve and exceed their objectives. Krawczyk-Brycka (2017) argued three pillars were paramount for virtual team success, (a) collaboration transparency, clear vision and defined individual and team goals, (b) cohesion between team and management (trust and motivational issues), (c) empowerment (shared responsibilities and emergent leadership). Neubert et al. (2015) noted that depending on how demanding the task, there was an inverse relationship between team members' confidence in their contributions and the consequences, which manifests itself in trust and collaboration.

The success of a virtual team was dependent on the trust between the leaders and their followers. When there was trust in the team leader, the virtual team members have a corresponding higher commitment level (Flavin et al., 2019). Virtual leaders were trustworthy when there was a direct and positive outcome of organizational commitment.

Once leaders have developed some level of trust between themselves and team members, they should focus on the methods they will use to monitor the group's success (Fulmer & Gelfand, 2015). There were differences in traditional leadership than that of virtual leadership among their teams that result in different levels of trust. How trust works in traditional teams were not transferable to vertical teams because vertical teams' structure differs from traditional teams because in vertical teams there is no non-verbal communication (Flavin et al., 2019). The physical looks of someone can affect how the team perceives someone's value and credibility.

The physical attractiveness of the leader in virtual teams was considered an advantage. Previous research has determined that the more physically attractive the virtual leader, the greater trust the team members display toward their leader (Flavin et al., 2019). Studies showed that even a digital picture may impact how employees trust their leader (Zhao et al., 2015). Previous research confirms a direct relationship between the physical attractiveness of the virtual leaders and the trust displayed by their team followers (Zhao et al., 2015). Zhao et al. (2015) also defined a direct relationship between the leader's physical attractiveness and perceived empathy. Perceived empathy is an essential characteristic of leaders in virtual teams. The perception of fairness delivered by the virtual leader and their followers were vital in work environments with little or no face-to-face contact (Zhao et al., 2015). Because of the virtual team's physical attractiveness, it was prudent that the leader presents themselves as positive and upbeat when working with teams with little to no face-to-face contact. The concept of being optimistic and positive includes any visual looks and voice inflections when using

electronic audio and optical technologies. Leadership in virtual teams was different than that of traditional team dynamics.

The traditional means of leadership in collated teams was different than that of virtual teams. There was not a consensus that leadership in traditional teams was transferable to virtual teams. In a virtual team environment, the leader plays a significantly more significant role in its success (Hooijberg & Watkins, 2021). Trust was considered the number element in the team's success (Breuer et al., 2019). It was the perceived factor of justice in the leader that was important to the team members Sheeraz et al., 2021). Organizational justice was the perceived interpretation or feeling of fairness between the leader and their followers in predicting job satisfaction (Bakotic & Bulog, 2021). There were three different levels of justice when defining trust in virtual teams policies and procedures, distributed, and respect (Bouazzaoui et al., 2020).

The first area of justice describes procedural justice. Saha (2022) defined the first area of justice as associated with policies and procedures. Distributed justice was the second area of justice, addresses the opportunity for promotions and other forms of recognition (Saha, 2020). The third area relating to justice was the presumption that everyone on the team treats each other with respect (Saha, 2020). It was then reasonable to think that in teams where the leader's perception were fair-minded, there was also the perception that the leader holds a higher level of trust among the team members. For teams to be successful, there must be a commitment from the team members of virtual teams.

Team commitment is another indicator of team success. Flavin et al. (2019)

suggested that there was also commitment among the team members within a virtual team where the leader's trust was within a virtual team. Flavin et al. (2019) also contended that there was a positive influence on organizational citizenship behavior where there are high levels of trust in virtual teams. Fu and Deshpande (2013) suggested a direct relationship between employee commitment and the team members' performance, reflecting the entire organization's success. Leadership in virtual teams was different from that of traditional teams. Virtual teams' leadership must be more engaged with their teams' members through various computer technology forms.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Virtual Teams

Virtual teams have numerous benefits for organizations and their employees.

Organizations using virtual teams can bring together the best minds no matter where they reside, offering flexibility while reducing expenses associated with travel and housing costs (Schulze & Krumm, 2016). As technology grows, virtual teams have corresponding growth. In 2016, more than 26 million Americans, or approximately 16% of the total workforce, now work at least part of the time remotely (Bureau of Labor and Statistics, 2016, 1-33). Between 2005 and 2015, the USA's total number of virtual workers increased by 15% (Bureau of Labor and Statistics, 2016, 1-33). Virtual teams are the norm for organizations; the team member locations were anywhere globally (Bartik et al., 2020). Through technology, virtual team members connect in real-time, sharing information (Bhat et al., 2017). Information sharing were essential to the success of the team. Because virtual team members live in different geographies and time zones, the importance of virtual team members sharing information with all team members were a

measure of their success (Hacker et al., 2019). Sharing information can be a challenge when the members of the team live in other geographical areas. The degree to which the team is effective depends on the information sharing and the team members sharing information (Peifer et al., 2021). Organizations may create a competitive advantage by recruiting the best and the brightest talent anywhere in the world (Stahl & Maznevski, 2021). Virtual teams can offer companies the flexibility of maximizing their expertise to be used with multiple virtual teams (Handle et al., 2020). Virtual teams are a win-win for the employer and employee, with each achieving their objectives.

Virtual teams continued to grow in importance in their organizations' overall success; there was concern about their validity. One area of concern was that virtual teams are more challenging than traditional teams (Flavin et al., 2019). The challenge for virtual teams were that team members did not have the opportunity to see each other face-to-face or see verbal and non-verbal cues during discussions and transfer information sharing among the virtual team members (Bartik et al., 2020). Studies show a lack of motivation by the virtual team members because of geographical alienated physical distances (Gilson et al., 2015). Workers could feel professional isolation and separation from the workplace when working remotely (Van Zoonen & Sivunen 2021). Language and culture may also be a barrier to virtual teams' success even when everyone speaks the same language (Stahl & Maznevski, 2021). Issues of trust development and conflict management can also create virtual teams' problems to be successful (Breuer et al., 2020). Communication can continue to offer challenges for virtual teams for different reasons.

Virtual teams can continue to experience communication challenges, even with the best technology resources available to leadership and followers. Companies offering chat rooms for employees located virtually continue to experience communication-related problems. The absence of meeting face-to-face in real-between team members may create problems (Stahl & Maznevski, 2021). Leadership also plays a pivotal role in the success of virtual teams. One crucial factor that can lessen the problems identified has the right virtual team leader. The primary reason virtual teams fail to meet the virtual leader's expectations was ineffective (Mehtab et al., 2017). Leaders who fail in virtual teams must motivate and empower their employees to exceed expectations (Mehtab et al., 2017). The challenge for leaders who lead in a virtual environment was their ability to communicate effectively with their team members (Newman et al., 2020). Motivation and empowerment were no different from leadership in traditional face-to-face environments. Virtual communication often adds complexities to the environment resulting in the leader's work becoming more complex when leading in a virtual environment. Although challenges face virtual leaders and their respective teams, the growth of virtual teams will continue to increase. COVID-19 is an example of how organizations adopted new tools to lead virtual teams effectively.

Enhancing Virtual Team Success

As the introduction and proliferation of virtual teams continued to grow, the discussion of how to improve virtual team success is vital to individual and organizational success and growth. Scholars offered different views on the enhancement of virtual teams. All successful virtual teams had one specific asset: everyone on the team

had a clear understanding of the team's role and value within the organization (Mangla, 2021). New technologies and the need to make quicker decisions have led to organizational structures with a different look and feel than traditional settings. Knowledge and information have become more visible in the digital world, and information sharing is easier to achieve. Leaders share leadership with their team of followers. Schwarzmuller et al. (2018) argued that everyone on the team feels a higher level of responsibility when two-way communication occurs. In virtual teams, the collaboration between the leader and followers is essential.

In traditional leadership environments, the leader defines goals and objectives. The collaborative process was more appropriate when defining jobs and tasks (DiFranza, 2019). Virtual teams' performance can depend on the successful collaboration between the leader and the team members. Teams' effectiveness can be traced back to the team's influence through shared leadership and collaboration (Liao, 2017). Leaders in virtual teams have the most knowledge of the goals, resources, and procedural issues that allow the team to function (Liao, 2017). When leaders customize specific tasks and goals for their team members, they demonstrate greater confidence and a willingness to follow their assigned leader (Liao, 2017). Training virtual team members were vital so that individual team members and the organization could exceed expectations.

The leadership in organizations recognized the importance of making investments in team development. Leadership consistently makes investments in people to ensure that teams, individuals, and companies thrive and compete (Shuffler et al., 2018). Because teams were an essential part of many organizations, corporations were willing to make

significant financial investments to ensure teams succeed, offering scholarships, resources, and other learning tools (Lacerenza et al., 2018). Sylvester (2019) argued that technical skills training in virtual teams helped leverage overall team productivity. Flexibility was inherent in virtual teams' success, and training was just one area where flexibility is vital to the team's success.

Virtual teams work and navigate the environment was more flexible than traditional work settings. The makeup and design of virtual teams were considerably more flexible than conventional working environments (Mehtab et al., 2017). Leaders within virtual team environments used synchronous and asynchronous methods to communicate with the leader and were also used for team members to share (Mehtab et al., 2017). Virtual teams have evolved to be more diverse than traditional teams (Mathieu et al., 2017). Although multiple factors differentiate virtual and traditional teams, traditional and virtual teams' key factors were leadership.

Leadership in Virtual Teams

The study of leadership dates back to Greek philosophers Pluto, Socrates, and Aristotle. Leadership was essential in organizational behavior and the degree of success that leaders and their followers experience (Kumar, 2018). Leadership was the influence that one or more individuals have over their followers. In the global universe of the 21st Century, leaders must possess and present the right leadership style, talent, and skill to develop, inspire, motivate, and empower the individuals and teams they are assigned to lead (Kumar, 2018). From 2006 through 2016, considerable research accumulation was aiding in defining and understanding effective leadership in virtual teams (Liao, 2017).

How leaders manage virtual teams continues to evolve.

The introduction of the Internet and the role of leaders in virtual teams continue to change and progress. Virtual teams in the modern-day model require different learned leadership skills (Maduka et al., 2018). Modern leaders must consider the differences in leading virtual teams if they are to be successful. Although achieving success was the same, achieving the goals has changed with the introduction of virtual teams. Virtual teams offer organizations new methods in organizing the work in organizations while at the same time successfully managing scarce resources in achieving their objectives (Levenson & McLaughlin, 2020). Successful leaders working in virtual teams need to alter their leadership styles.

Leadership in virtual teams involves changing the characteristics of how the leader influences their virtual team. Leadership styles and how they function with their team had to adapt and align with the knowledge that their communication is not face-to-face (Levenson & McLaughlin, 2020). As virtual teams continue to grow in numbers and different industries, successful strategies in traditional face-to-face environments may not be effective in virtual teams (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Virtual teams need to intellectually understand unique differences that enhance unity, trust, and communication when working with virtual teams (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Purvanova and Kenda (2018) suggested that virtual team leadership was the same as traditional. Still, it was the difference in how virtual leaders use different strategies in achieving success for their organizations. Because employees in virtual teams are dependent on e-communication to connect the possibility of misunderstandings between team members, their leader raised

substantially (Liao, 2017). As a result, virtual team leaders needed to develop and then successfully introduce new skills into the virtual team to build a mutual, trusted relationship between their followers and the team members (Liao, 2017). Virtual leaders should recognize a difference in how they communicate with their teams.

As virtual teams continue to grow in popularity and necessity, contemporary organizations and leadership recognize that virtual teams are different from traditional groups in multiple areas. Therefore, it was prudent that organizations identify the unique competencies and environmental issues that virtual leaders have to navigate for their teams and organizations to succeed successfully (Maduka et al., 2018). Leaders in virtual communities of practice build trust, motivate, and develop personal relationships with their team members through technology (Chrisentary & Barrett, 2015). Chrisentary and Barrett (2015) concluded that for virtual leaders to be successful, they should (a) empower the members of the team in making shared decisions, (b) two-way communication was vital in leading, and (c) there should be a common theme of trust spread through the team.

Leading in virtual teams requires a different set of leadership skills, and leaders need to adapt to achieve sustainable success for their teams and organizations. Leaders require train to be effective (Milner et al., 2018). As virtual teams grow out of popularity and necessity, a new leadership style evolves (Shared Leadership). Traditional leadership may not work when there are low levels of face-to-face contact between the leader and their followers (Zhu & Lee, 2017). Because the virtual world's roles are more elastic and dynamic, leaders may find their team members demonstrated leadership qualities (Serban

et al., 2015). The concept of shared leadership has come about because of virtual teams. Shared leadership is the collective expertise virtual team members bring together in supporting decisions that include the expert knowledge that members bring to the virtual team (Serban et al., 2015). Members of virtual teams are often more comfortable in their work produced than are traditional team members.

The respect for each team member was in direct relationship to their contributions. Team members who come from virtual teams were often more satisfied with their experiences when a level of care was associated with each member's contributions, shared leadership (Eseryel et al., 2020). Shared leadership promoted their followers to feel freedom and independence because they knew their role produced results (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016). Wu et al. (2015) argued that the more independent and decision-making members of the team possess, the more valuable the work feels to each individual representing the virtual team. Leaders recognize clear communications between the virtual leader and their followers for the team to become successful.

Communication Strategies for Virtual Teams

The exponential growth of virtual teams has spawned an escalated interest in how effective leaders communicate with their teams successfully. Virtual team leaders' primary challenge was not having the luxury of meeting with their teammates face-to-face (Flavin et al., 2019). Accomplished leaders learned to lead and communicate with their virtual teams (Ford et al., 2017). The leadership in virtual teams used various communication tools to avoid miscommunication, and the selection of one or more tools should align with the defined work (Gilson et al., 2015). Virtual leaders' behavior toward

individuals and the team levels was paramount in determining and shaping cognitive, affective, and motivational states and contributing to performance and achievement (Liao, 2017). Virtual teams were the best equipped to know the goals, resources, and processes in communicating with their teams (Liao, 2017). The leadership in virtual teams was influential on the team's performance because of the impact leaders have on the team through collaboration (Gilson et al., 2015; Roodt et al. (2016). Leaders' communication strategies played a vital role in clarifying and establishing personal goals with each team member and defining the policies and procedures to complete the work (Liao, 2017). The continued growth and expansion of virtual teams will require leaders to learn a unique set of communication strategies that may enhance their virtual team members' productivity.

The concept of virtual team leadership was an area of study that garnered significant attention. Leadership in virtual teams was one of the most critical subjects studied in the broader virtuality theme (Gilson et al., 2015). The changing workplace relies on virtual teams creating a unique set of problems that current research does not adequately address (Jimenez et al., 2017). Leading virtual teams was different than leading face-to-face teams (Paul & Jefferson, 2019). When leading face-to-face individuals and teams, the leader and follower visually see the expression, voice inflection, and other body movements that told a story versus an impersonal email or phone call. There was no face-to-face interaction; the results led to miscommunication between leaders and their teams using electronic communication (Arendt et al., 2019). Khan (2021) suggested that one of virtual team leaders' critical challenges is

communicating their strategies to their virtual team members. Leaders and their team members explored different communication standards with the same or similar meaning as if the leader and follower were speaking face-to-face.

Communication Standards for Virtual Leadership

The communication standards that virtual leaders initiate were a significant factor concerning individual team members' core competencies. Functioning in an interactive team environment versus working as a unique virtual employee, such as joining a virtual meeting, are communicated differently (Jakobsen & Mortensen, 2015). Leaders should avoid traditional behavioral norms in virtual team structures and lean toward more clearcut and specific communication forms (Cortellazzo et al., 2019). For example, many traditional monitoring measurements introduced real-time digital technology; the fundamental process used in face-to-face feedback remains in communicating digitally (Petrucci & Rivera, 2018). The use of explicit communication norms by leaders in virtual teams had several advantages. Initiating the suitable exchange of information, continuous follow-up, interaction combined with less vagueness, better measurement processes, and faster response times are vital in virtual teams' success (Cortellazzo et al., 2019). There are challenges that virtual leaders must be aware of to be successful in leading their teams.

One of the challenges virtual leaders should be familiar with was that contextual information might be challenging when presenting to virtual teams. Contextual factors may bring about substantial differences when working in a traditional team versus a virtual team. The effects of performance visualization in contextual information defined

that one of the reasons there may be a lack of clarity in virtual teams was ambiguity concerning the various elements that constitute valued communication between the leaders and their teams' members. Virtual teams were more successful when effective communication between their leader and followers, supply chain partners, and other stakeholders was associated with the team (Baker et al., 2016). Defining communication standards between the virtual leader and their assigned team members was valuable for successfully achieving individual and corporate objectives.

Leadership consistency in communication with their followers was vital in developing successful virtual teams. Consistent expectations around team communication, including virtual meetings' tempo, were a determiner of team success (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Virtual leaders should be cognizant that working with virtual workers is significantly more complicated, causing feelings that include isolation and exclusion (Vega et al., 2015). Alward and Phelps (2019) concluded that a leaders' conscientious efforts to align the message delivery should align with the communication technologies and frequency to include the pace that may create a trusting environment between the virtual team members. Performance enhancement of a virtual team depends on the leaders' clear feedback. Team members who have customers were vital to the virtual team's success. Lippert and Dulwicz (2018) recommended that additional training positively impacts team performance based on the current competency level. Virtual leaders, team members, and customers communicated that meeting and accepting advice improved communication (Lippert & Dulwicz, 2018). Leadership coaching's

effectiveness depended on how legitimate the team member perceived their leader and not on the leader's authority (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). Virtual leaders must recognize the importance of the perceptions they leave with their team and how information funnels back-and-forth between the leader and members of the virtual team.

The frequency of communication was recognized and played a pivotal role in developing virtual teams and their function. The communication volume was essential at the initial stages of a virtual teams' life cycle (Marlow et al., 2017). Marlow et al., 2017) argued that selecting different communication features were vital to the virtual team's functioning. Virtual leaders should be aware that highly functional virtual teams can adversely affect their performance when there is an overload of communication moving back and forth with the team leader and members (Marlow et al., 2017). As with all teams, virtual teams require nurturing and development (Synder, 2015). There were pitfalls in communication where asynchronous communication was the primary communication method between team members, affecting the virtual team's decision-making quality.

Communication quality may also play an essential role in communication with virtual team members. Two types of communication forums (videoconferencing and computer-based video like Zoom or GoToMeeting) demonstrate that the virtual team dynamics and the members impacted based on the working knowledge of the technology (Synder, 2015). Additionally, the team's quality of interaction aligned with the professionalism displayed during the video forum was a key factor (Synder, 2015). Synder (2015) concluded that one of the drawbacks of video forums is video camera

accessibility limitation. The disappointment was understandable because working virtually, your leader and teammates may not see you, which adds another layer of isolation. The quality of communication was vital for work teams that interact virtually compared to teams that do not work in teams or groups (Schaubroeck & Yu, 2017). The technical quality of the technology used in virtual communication was essential when there was a pooling of information in finding solutions for problems. Scott and Wildman (2015) suggested challenges in leading virtual teams because of the team dynamic's diversity. The focus should be on finding solutions to severe problems versus worrying about the quality of the technological devices used to meet in the virtual world.

Emotional Intelligence and Leadership

There was constant pressure on organizations and their leadership to change if they expected to win. Leaders had a significant responsibility to make an ongoing change in their organizations. Leaders must build a winning coalition (Issah, 2018). The challenge for leaders was that change also comes with emotions related to change. Emotional intelligence was the driver for feelings, thinking, learning, problem-solving, and decision-making (Issah, 2018. Change can be difficult because those affected must surrender their current beliefs and values (Issah, 2018). People enjoyed the comfort, so fear was always with the unknown (Issah, 2018). For any leader to be successful, the leader will have to rely on their own experiences, covet and build relationships, respond successfully to environmental clues, and continue a process of educating themselves in developing their emotional intelligence (Watkins et al., 2017). Success for leaders will only come when leaders have learned the skills associated with emotional intelligence.

Leaders with high levels of emotional intelligence have learned how to create an open communication environment for everyone affected by the change. Successful virtual leaders encourage everyone to share their ideas relating to the company's future (Ferrell & Kline, 2018). There is evidence that a leaders' trait positive effect aligns with transformational leadership and leadership effectiveness, which trait negative affect was related to poor results (Joseph et al., 2015). Drigas and Papouts, (2018) argued that emotional intelligence runs parallel with other knowledge areas, such as social intelligence, that focuses on reasoning, emotions, and seeing oneself. Therefore, effective leadership was paramount to an organization's success, and the leader's level of emotional intelligence in managing feelings was a substantial factor in successful organizational change.

One of the benefits of an online workforce with a leader demonstrating high levels of emotional intelligence was that each individual and the team had a more significant opportunity to succeed. However, virtual leaders' challenge was not always having face-to-face interaction when developing and introducing strategies and plans. Traditional methods and motivating virtual team members were no longer valid (Alward & Phelps, 2019). Virtual leaders will have to learn the intricacies of leading teams without face-to-face contact and develop the tools that create cohesiveness, trust, and communication. Potentially, virtual leaders will have to master the number one skill in becoming successful in developing their emotional intelligence (Alward & Phelps, 2019). For example, online university learning was becoming more attractive as an alternate means of attending classes in a brick-and-mortar environment. Because there was no

face-to-face contact in a traditional sense, faculty and staff found ways to meet students' needs (Mohr & Shelton, 2017). Virtual leaders put aside traditional learning tools in a contemporary working environment and achieve employees' needs working and operating in a virtual world.

There are distinct differences between virtual and non-virtual leaders. One factor differentiating virtual versus non-virtual teams is that virtual team members show high compliance levels, while non-virtual teams demonstrate lower compliance levels (Shwartz-Asher & Ahituv, 2019). Emotional intelligence is an critical driver of virtual team member well-being, and it underlines the effectiveness of team emotional management intervention that softens the impact on virtual teams ((Gamero et al., 2021). The results would seem counterintuitive. Shwartz-Asher and Ahituv (2019) concluded that the virtual team members felt they had higher power than traditional collocated teams. At the same time virtual team members feel there is an inherent lack of information, specifically team feedback (McLarnon et al., 2019). Developing a working knowledge of how virtual teams function based on individual team roles, skills, and comfort levels was a successful requirement for virtual leaders (Zeuge et al., 2020). Virtual leaders who display the necessary skills to lead virtual teams had the best opportunity to be successful.

Leaders equipped with high levels of emotional intelligence managed employees and produced better results. Higher levels of emotional intelligence in leaders force virtual leaders to focus on others' thoughts and feelings versus focusing on their own needs, resulting in a hostile environment, thus reducing the virtual team's cohesion

(Quisenberry, 2018). The more developed leaders' emotional intelligence quotient, the more accomplished they are with strategizing and motivating employees to forecast team members' emotional responses and make the proper adjustments (Quisenberry, 2018). Reshetnikov et al., 2020) suggested that leaders with higher levels of emotional intelligence is an aid to leaders making the best decisions for individuals and their team. Leaders who have learned emotional intelligence skills make the right decisions for their teams'.

The best leaders know when it is the best time to change among their team members. Leaders with highly developed emotional intelligence levels identified and eliminated members on a team who refused to move in the same direction (Quisenberry, 2018). Gaubatz and Ensminger (2017) observed that some team members might resist change because their underlining objections are leadership prioritization. Gaubatz and Ensminger (2017) also determined that department chairs' difference between successful and unsuccessful change efforts resulted from the participants' relationship. Leaders who possess higher emotional intelligence levels recognized they must focus on the team versus any individual attempting to derail the change. Training virtual leaders in emotional intelligence have positive effects as more organizations introduce virtual teams.

Leaders of virtual teams can also demonstrate empathy even if there is little or no physical information consumption. Bertrand et al. (2018) suggested that it is conceivable that leaders can demonstrate empathy through computer technology communication. The more empathy the leader is perceived to display, the higher the team's trust level

Mayfield et al., 2019). The introduction of social networks can create empathy based on the team member's ability to access other team members and throughout the organization

The Impacts of New Technology Resources on Virtual Teams

Information technology advancements have introduced new forms of information and knowledge sharing. The introduction of new technology offered businesses greater flexibility and management through virtual work teams (Larson & DeChurch, 2020). Over 60 different digital technology tools included e-mail, audio conferencing, texting, web conferencing, and video conferencing (GoToMeeting, Zoom, and WebEx). Other digital communication tools include cloud sharing, live chat, email, texting, and electronic bulletin board. Information technology advancements have introduced new forms of information and knowledge sharing.

Companies of all sizes and dimensions have no choice but to embrace digital technology as communication technology as an essential tool for virtual teams in organizations (Latinen & Valo, 2018). The introduction of computer technology has made virtual collaboration unavoidable for teams that expect to remain competitive in a rapidly changing business environment (Chae, 2016). Teams and organizations are increasingly evaluating and introducing new technologies to support workers and enhance a thriving environment (Collins., 2019). The most significant contribution technology has brought to organizations was that new technology has transformed work structures and communication methods in virtual teams (Synder, 2015). Recent technology advancements had several different positive effects on virtual teams.

The introduction of digital tools offers companies the opportunity to flatten their

organizational structures and allows for virtually dispersed teams to exist (Cortellazzo et al., 2019). Leaders encourage two-way communication when interacting with their followers (Schwarzmuller et al., 2018). When there are high levels of autonomy in an organization between the leader and their followers, workers create a greater sense of responsibility by producing increased accountability levels (Schwarzmuller et al., 2018). Facilitating workers worldwide and combining various perspectives had stimulated increased creativity and innovation levels in organizations (Gupta & Pathak, 2018). Virtual teams allowed the best players with exceptional talents to locate anywhere globally, so there was little need to duplicate technical expertise when using digital technology.

New technology played a vital role in supporting virtual teams and their workers. Teams and organizations were increasingly evaluating and introducing new technologies to support virtual workers and enhance a thriving environment (Collins, 2019). The most significant contribution technology has brought to organizations is that new technology has transformed work structures and virtual teams' communication methods (Synder, 2015). The introduction of low-cost smartphones has made it easier to communicate, no matter where people live and work in the world.

Digital technology has changed forever the way people, organizations, and leadership communicate with each other. In a Eurobarometer survey, the majority of those responding found that the impact of technology has a positive effect on the economy (75%), quality of life (67%), and society as a whole (64%) (European Commission, 2017). More than 8 billion cell phones globally connect people (World

Economic Forum, 2017). Digital technology has changed the nature of organizations in how their leaders connect with individuals and teams. Digitized information offers real-time value to leaders, workers, and their customers, including modifying these same three groups (Vidgen et al., 2017). There was an interconnection between technology and leadership, as technology can influence the leaders' decision-making.

Technology affected virtual leaders' decisions and influenced how developed leaders become accomplished virtual leaders. The connection and dependency of technology are bound together in defined virtual leaders' roles (Roman et al., 2018). (Cortellazzo et al., 2019) suggested that all companies incorporate digital technology in support of the leader's defined strategies. Leaders can eliminate the confusion and disconnection from organizations and present strategies and plans more structured (Toepfl, 2018). How leaders and their followers initiate and practice digital technology can directly affect the virtual team's success.

Digital technology has changed how leaders and followers communicate with one another. Technology is not just about workers communicating through various communication technologies, but now there are well-defined acceptable standards and norms in communication. Cortellazzo et al. (2019) argued that instead of focusing on acceptable behavior norms when working in traditional teams, virtual teams must define a clear definition of the norms and standards when using a different technology form to communicate. Leaders and their followers must have a keen understanding of the underlying meaning of words, expressions, and tone when communicating up and down their virtual teams (Cortellazzo et al., 2019). Technology is a critical tool in the success

of leaders and their team members.

As virtual team environments continue to increase, so will the complexity and demands of virtual teams. Technology and management skills play a vital role in the virtual team's success (Groberm & Baumol, 2017). The use of technology by virtual leaders needs to align with how the leader will use the technology (Groberm & Baumol, 2017). When introducing new technologies, it was incumbent to validate that leaders have a working knowledge of the technology introduced to the virtual team (Groberm & Baumol, 2017). Every team member, including the leader, must have a working understanding of the technology to maximize their success.

The more successful teams using technology validated that all team members have the core competency to use and manage technology (Morrison-Smith & Ruiz, 2020). Virtual team structures had a heavy reliance on new technology. One of the critical factors that support successful virtual teams is digital technology. The groups that experienced the highest success as virtual teams were the team members who had first a working knowledge and value of the technology (Kilcullen et al., 2021)). Clark et al.(2019) concluded that strong leadership was the differentiator in generating results. Virtual team members' training in digital tools was vital in building virtual team collaboration and increasing productivity.

Transition

This qualitative case study explored the communication strategies that some online automotive managers use to motivate virtual sales teams to maintain productivity. Virtual teams have evolved and are considered a vital method of doing business daily

(Garro-Abarca, 2021). Virtual teams are standard practice in many organizations globally (Dulebohn & Hoch, 2017). Although there has been considerable growth in virtual teams, issues remain, such as a lack of trust between leadership and team members. Section 1 contained foundational elements of this study that included the background of the study, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, and conceptual framework. I also introduced Hersey's and Blanchard's (1969) situational leadership model, the conceptual framework for this study. I provided a critical review of the academic and professional literature. Section 1 also included operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the significance of the study.

Section 2 included a thorough analysis of the research process and defined my role as a qualitative researcher. Section 2 consisted of the participants and research method and sampling, design, population, ethical research, collection data analysis techniques and validity., reliability, and the study findings'. The transition from Section 2 to Section 3 included the research findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2 of the study, my objective is to present a detailed description of the research process, including my responsibility as a qualitative researcher. The role of the qualitative researcher is essential to data collection and data analysis. I describe the data collection and data organization techniques that I used. Also, I discuss the participant eligibility criteria and the ethical protections for participants. The protection of the participants was vital to maintaining high ethical standards throughout the study. In addition, I discuss the strategies that I used to ensure the study's dependability, credibility, and confirmability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study was to explore the communication strategies that some online automotive managers in one organization used to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity. The targeted population was three virtual leaders located at the same organization in the United States who have successful experiences in leading virtual sales teams in the online automotive industry. Positive social change might result from motivated employees performing at higher levels with greater job satisfaction and less employee turnover. Satisfied workers may potentially create a better standard of living for their families and communities and companies that they represent (Kropp, 2022). Motivated employees are more eager to support social responsibilities outside the home to support their communities.

Role of the Researcher

The qualitative researcher plays a vital role in data collection and analysis. The

researcher is the primary data collection instrument in a qualitative study (Yin, 2018) and plays a vital role in collecting and analyzing the data (Busch & Amechi, 2019). My role therefore was an essential component of the study. One aspect of my research role that was essential in the collection of the data was establishing trust with the participants.

Trust between a researcher and participants is a critical factor in the success of a qualitative case study. Relationships of trust developed between the researcher and participants are vital to the success of the research (Guillemin et al., 2018). Developing trust with the participants in this study included active listening, accuracy in the data collected from the interviews, and creating a working knowledge of the responses presented by each participant.

The study's quality is supported when the researcher has intimate knowledge of the industry studied and there is a high level of trust developed between the participants and the researcher. Karagiozis (2018) argued that the relationship between the researcher and the participant is based on trust and originates when there is a higher level of respect. I have intimate knowledge of the automotive industry and online services in selling automobiles. As a former leader in the automotive online advertising industry, I carried personal views on the communication strategies that enhanced the productivity of virtual sales teams.

To minimize the potential influence of my personal biases and experiences, I sought to listening intently without judgment and focus on what the participants shared as their successful strategies. Clark and Veale (2018) recommended that the researcher avoid any exposure indicating personal bias when collecting, coding, and sorting the

gathered data to precisely represent the data supplied from the participants. To ensure that my research was credible, I incorporated reflexivity throughout the study. Subramani (2019) defined reflexivity as an acceptable measurement when using qualitative research. Reflexivity was an ongoing process of mutual sharing between me as the researcher and the participants.

I avoided any pitfalls that may unintentionally sway the participants' reactions to the semistructured questions. Madrill and Sullivan (2017) suggested that avoiding bias and not influencing the interviewees is the researcher's principal objective. I minimized any potential bias by listening to the participants without making comments. I also sought to be aware that the participants may have views and experiences that may differ from my personal experiences. The researcher's personal experiences, beliefs, and opinions shapes how they interpret the study's findings (Karagiozis, 2018). I also avoided my own bias through bracketing. Bracketing helps minimize the damaging effects and bias that may corrupt the research process (Joseph et al., 2015). Spirko (2019) defined bracketing as a process where the researcher cognitively holds back their bias and previous experiences in determining the studied phenomenon. More than 10 years had passed since I had any personal knowledge of the study organization but avoided personal bias that would reflect on the study's interpretations or outcomes.

I adhered to the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research when conducting the study. The *Belmont Report* serves as a vital reference in assessing the ethical understanding of studies that involve human participants (Anabo et al., 2019). The report emphasizes

respect for the participants of the study, beneficence relating to risks, and justice and fair treatment of all participants' fair treatment (Anabo et al., 2019). I used the three principles of the Belmont Report to protect each participant's responses. Beneficence is the ethical obligation to the well-being of individuals by way of the risk-benefit ratios, and justice refers to who should receive the benefits of the research and who should be responsible for its burdens (Giles et al., 2018). As the researcher, I was accountable for protecting the privacy and confidentiality of each participant in the study.

I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to collect data for the study. An interview protocol is another strategy to reduce bias in collecting data and presenting findings. Yeong et al. (2018) suggested that the interview protocol is vital in obtaining quality interview data. The use of an interview protocol was essential to the data's quality trustworthiness.

A researcher uses an interview protocol for consistency by asking the same questions of each participant. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) recommended that the research details should include the interview protocol. Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggested that researchers use a four-phase process for developing an interview protocol: (a) ensuring that the interview questions align with the research questions, (b) constructing an inquiry-based conversation, (c) receiving feedback on the interview protocol, and (d)mapping the interview protocol. I used the interview protocol as the primary data collection instrument to optimize the time appropriated in the interview process. The use of interview protocol safeguards the quality of the data collection in a trustworthy and impartial manner (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). My goal in using an

interview protocol was to ensure alignment between my research question and the interview questions. Young et al. (2018) suggested that the refinement process offers the researcher the best opportunity to correct limitations within the interview questions. In addition, refinement safeguards with the result are the intended responses aligned with the researchers' objectives. I asked each participant the same interview questions. I also asked that each participant confirm the accuracy of their recorded responses.

Participants

The participants targeted for this study included three highly successful sales leaders of virtual teams from one organization. Newman et al. (2020) suggested that successful virtual team leaders and followers trust each other through effective communication practices. Ford et al. (2017) argued that virtual leaders with faster responsiveness and timeliness in their communication practices construct more effective teams. The three participants work in California, Oregon, California, and Idaho. The participants selected exceeded performance expectations for 2 or more years in their current positions.

Each participant had experienced success in achieving the defined expectations of their leader. The study participants have had personal experience leading virtual teams to include lived experiences and views relating to the phenomenon studied. Each virtual online automotive leader had no less than 2 years of successful experience leading virtual teams and had the authority to make decisions that affected their overall performance.

Gaining access to participants can be challenging, as Amundsen et al. (2017) noted. Researchers may feel pressure because of the frustration in gaining access to the

study participants (Vuban & Eta, 2019). Once I received approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), I contacted the executive leader in the online automotive advertising industry to ensure no conflicts of interest and then selected three participants' names and contact information for the study.

The executive leader offered a pool of participants who met the study's eligible criteria. Vuban and Eta (2019) recommended that researchers consider using relationships within their network to define predetermined participants. Purposive sampling ensures that the study represents a wide geographical spread (Amers et al., 2019). The participants are from a pool in four states in the United States (California, Oregon, Washington, and Idaho).

After I obtained approval from the IRB (approval no. 08-11-21-0658796), I sent a letter of cooperation to each participant (see Appendix B). Researchers are encouraged to develop relationships with each participant (Guillemin et al., 2018). I contacted each participant using a combination of phone, email, and video conferencing. My goal was to gain the participants' trust. Using a communication strategy that establishes participant trust furthers the quality and depth of data originating from the interviews (Kowal et al., 2017). Rich data offered by the participants results from building trust between the researcher and the participants

Developing a trusting relationship with each participant was essential in gathering data from the semistructured interviews. A trusting relationship includes being open and respectful of one another, which enhances the quality and richness of the data (Kowal et al., 2017). Recognizing the importance of having an open relationship, authentically

building trust, and ensuring that the participants felt free to offer their leadership experiences was vital to study success. The participants' character, ethics, and values needed to be aligned with the research question. The ethical relationship between the researcher and participant is a determiner in the quality of the data gathered (Kara & Pickering, 2017).

Developing a relationship with research participants was critical to eliciting rich data. Maduka et al. (2018) recommended the researcher build a rapport with the participants before their interviews. To create a connection with the participants, a researcher should consider writing a summary of expectations and general discussion areas and presenting it before the interview (Maduka et al., 2018). I made sure that the participants' background experiences aligned with the research question. During the research, I met each participant via telephone and video conferencing and established a continuous and affirmative relationship to collect data to achieve data saturation.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I chose the qualitative research method and a single case study design based on the business problem, study purpose, and research question. My goal was to develop an increased understanding of the studied phenomenon. Researchers use the qualitative method to gain a working knowledge of the participants' personal experiences (Yin, 2018). The research question is the foundation for selecting the best research method for any study (Yin, 2018).

I selected the qualitative research method because it enabled exploration of the

similarities and differences in participants' descriptive accounts. In this study, I examined communication strategies that enhance the productivity of virtual advertising account executives. The qualitative research method was appropriate because the study involved exploring strategies used by virtual leaders to enhance their virtual team members' productivity. Qualitative research offers the researcher an in-depth working knowledge of the participants' personal experiences through direct questioning (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Use of the qualitative research method deepened my understanding of the participants' individual experiences leading their teams.

I also considered quantitative and mixed methods for this research but did not select either approach. Quantitative was not appropriate for this research because there were no hypotheses or theories that were tested. The quantitative method is appropriate when analyzing the statistical relationships between variables when testing a theory (Park & Park, 2016). There were no particular occurrences associated with the study.

Mixed methods research was also not appropriate for this study. Mixed methods are appropriate when a researcher wants to combine qualitative and quantitative research. Yin (2018) suggested that a mixed methods methodology is relevant when a researcher collects data from qualitative and quantitative analysis. Mixed method research offers a researcher a more in-depth and broader explanation of the phenomenon (Hesse-Biber, 2016). I did not select the mixed method approach because it would not offer additional data by introducing a quantitative component to the research study. The qualitative method was appropriate for participants to share the communications strategies that they used to enhance their productivity.

Research Design

The research design was a descriptive single case study. Fusch and Fusch (2015) indicated that a descriptive case study provides a detailed picture of the research and the participants' actual individual experiences. The sources of evidence for case studies include interviews, other documents, records, direct observations, and participants (Alpi & Evans, 2019). Yin (2018) suggested that the case study design answers what, why, and questions. Ebneyamini and Moghadam (2018) argued that a researcher could select either a single or multiple-case design based on the study's needs. The single case study offered a more in-depth and richer description of the studied phenomenon for this study. The single case study is superior to the multiple method case study when a researcher wants to study a specific group of people (Gustafsson, 2017). Gonzales-Diaz and Bustamante-Cabrera (2021) argued that single case studies could describe the existence of the phenomenon studied. As the researcher, I aimed to explore the communications strategies used to enhance the productivity of virtual sales teams.

Consideration for other qualitative designs included phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative. A phenomenological design was considered but was not selected because there is no focus on human life experiences (Neubauer et al., 2019). The section of the ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because the intention of the research was not to study people in their environment or culture.

Researchers also use narrative research design to inquire about participants' life experiences in gathering data to justify facts versus perceptions (Lindsay & Schwind, 2016). The narrative design was also inappropriate for this study because addressing the

participants' life experiences would not successfully address the research question.

One of the critical objectives of qualitative research was to achieve data saturation. Saunders et al. (2018) reasoned that data saturation was the number one goal in conducting qualitative research. Fusch and Ness (2015) argued that failure to reach data saturation affects the research quality. Data saturation was possible only when the participants' questions revealed the same data previously collected. Data saturation achievement is when there are no new emerging themes or ideas, and the continued process of interviews produces no additional themes (Guest et al., 2016). Favourate et al., 2020) suggested that data saturation was the guarantee in the quality of rigor that researcher can provide. There was not one specific approach in achieving data saturation.

Saturation is achieved based on the participant's data at a specific point in the interview when the participant cannot offer any new data. According to Yin (2018), to achieve saturation, researchers use several sources to collect data, including interviews, onsite visits, telephone, video conferencing, and document reviews. I ensured there was data saturation using member checking. With the completion of each interview, I (a) examined my interpretation of the interview responses, (b) offered a concise synthesis of what I wrote relating to each question asked, (d) validated with the participant to determine the accuracy of my notes versus each participant's responses. I continued asking questions until each participant offered no new data.

Population and Sampling

This single case study included virtual sales leaders in California, Oregon,
Washington, and Idaho who work for the same organization. Three virtual sales leaders

successfully lead virtual sales teams in achieving and exceeding their objectives (contracts signed and total revenue achieved versus the goal achievement) and defined by their virtually located leader. The three participants were working in their respective markets for a minimum of 2 years. The participants provided rich and thick data on this study's research question. Careful consideration of the selection of the participants was paramount in gathering rich data. The selection criteria for participants included inclusion and exclusion criteria. Patino and Ferreira (2018) suggested defining inclusion and exclusion criteria for study participants to design quality research standards. I selected from a pool of participants using specific criteria. Each participant exceeded expectations in contracts signed and revenue achievement versus defined revenue objectives.

The selection of three participants was appropriate for this single case study. Yin (2018) suggested that smaller sample size was suitable for the study when the conceptual framework aligns with the study. Qualitative research experts argue there was no precise answer to "how many" because the sample size combined methodological and practicality issues (Baker & Edwards, 2012). Busetto et al., 2020) posited that the more useable data collected from each participant translates into fewer participants. Aguboshim (2021) argued that a justification is based on the judgement and experience of the researcher; therefore, the sample size of three participants for this study was appropriate. The sampling technique was critical to the development of the study.

I used purposeful sampling for this study. Palinkas et al. (2015) described purposeful sampling as a technique that provided rich data to observe and analyze. Benoot et al. (2016) submitted that a significant advantage in adopting purposeful

sampling was that the researcher used exceptional performing participants willing and eager to share their personal experiences. Although convenience sampling is available in qualitative and quantitative research, purposeful sampling was the primary choice in qualitative research (Benoot et al., 2016). Convenience sampling was appropriate when the researcher examined the whole population (Ilker et al., 2016). The central conflict in convenience sampling was that the research participants might not apply to the research problem (Ilker et al., 2016). In this study, I was using a finite population that fit the criteria for the study. To be credible in qualitative research, the researcher must achieve data saturation.

Qualitative researchers strive to attain data saturation. Hennink et al. (2017) argued that even the most narrowed angle relating to saturation at the individual participant level offered no new data. (Johnson et al., 2020) suggested that data saturation was achievable when data collection and analysis produced no new data that addresses the research question. Furthermore, saturation was the evidence that the database development was adequate information for the qualitative researcher to address the research question successfully (Constantinou et al., 2017). I used member checking to validate the credibility of the results. Member checking allows the participants to reflect on personal experiences and create opportunities to add new data. Data saturation was complete when there were no new themes from the participants.

Ethical Research

The principal requirement for conducting research was the ethical treatment of the participants. Palinkas et al. (2015) defined research ethics as treating the research

participants with respect and dignity. When conducting qualitative research, informed consent is considered the number one responsibility in protecting the participants. I was the researcher and will follow the standards defined in the Belmont Report's principles for my protection and the three participants in the study. Artal and Rubenfeld (2017) advised researchers to offer and proceed after the participants first agreed and then signed a consent form for the interview. Yin (2018) recommended that researchers use a standardized consent form defining all defined ethical points related to privacy and confidentiality. The consent form for this study included (a) my contact information, (b) information on confidentiality, (c) the date of IRB approval, (d) withdrawal procedures for any participant, (e) definition of potential study risks, and (f) information on record and document retention.

Once approved by the IRB, each participant received a formal invitation letter via email that defined the study's details, participant criteria, and personal contact information. In addition to the formal invitation to participate, a confidential consent form described the study's benefits and risks. Xu et al. (2020) recommended that the consent form include a statement indicating voluntary participation.

There was no financial remuneration for participating. Following the consent form's receipt, the participants had five days to consent using an 'I Consent' electronic notification of approval to proceed. Should a participant decline, then the same process would have included selecting a new participant for the study. Participants' could choose the drop from the study at any time. I requested that anyone who decides to drop from participation call or use email. Aguila et al. (2016) recommended that participants elect

not to answer but must answer the other nine interview questions or be removed and replaced by a new participant. Any participant who elected to drop out of the study would not have their data included in the study. No participants dropped out of the study.

The participants were encouraged to view the consent form throughout the study to remind them of their responsibility to be transparent and authentic. All participants were aware they could use email or a phone call as the researcher. I was mindful of the legality of gathering the study's information to be successful. Haines (2017) argued that academic research in leadership and business might be taxing, but the learning could be valuable to the researcher and participants. Haines also recognized that the researcher must balance risk to the participants and the study's benefits.

To ensure the participants' ethical protection, I used an informed consent form to share participants' information about the study, including gaining each participant's approval to engage in the study. I secured the participant's identity and safeguarded all the data collected from the initial interview and all other follow-up engagements. Protecting the participants' names and their responses to the interviews was a significant area of importance. Yin (2018) advocated using pseudonym coding to secure the confidentiality of the participants. The participants will log on with their coded credentials to protect their identity. I used a coding system for the P1, P2, and P3 participants. The participants and the researcher referred to themselves as either P1, P2, and P3 to maintain their confidentiality.

I collected data only after Walden University's IRB had given me the approval to start data collection (approval no. 08-11-21-0658796). Restriction access to the data was

paramount to all involved (Xu et al. (2020). I was responsible for all documents, recordings, computer hard drives, external hard drives, USB drives, and written material. Confidentiality was the underlying norm of research ethics and is considered an essential practice of researchers. As the sole individual responsible for all the video conferencing materials, phone calls, written documents, and other storage devices, I was held accountable for all the materials locked in my residence and the only individual with access to all research material for 5 years. Following the 5 years, all information was to be shredded.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this study. The researcher was the primary instrument in conducting qualitative case studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Saxena, 2017). Researchers may use several data sources to collect the data, including interviews, onsite visits, telephone, video conferencing, and document reviews Yin, 2018). I selected semistructured interviews for this study. Semistructured interview questions were appropriate in developing communication strategies that enhanced productivity for virtual sales team members. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) as a guide when collecting data via video conferencing. Researchers use an interview protocol to ask probing questions of the participants (Saxena, 2017). The interview protocol included 10 semistructured questions and any future questions and member checking procedures that offered information from communication strategies that enhance virtual sales teams' productivity. The 10 participants were asked the same 10 questions in the same sequence.

The interview protocol offered information relating to the participants and the potential for follow-up questions. Yeong et al. (2018) suggested that the interview protocol's reliability should direct the interviewer to be systematic, consistent, and detailed during and after the interview process. Yin (2018) recommended that a researcher incorporate multiple data collection sources to increase the data's dependability and enhance case study research credibility. Other data sources included performance results, performance appraisals, and other written documentation to members assigned to their virtual leader.

Member checking allowed participants to check my interpretations of their responses to the 10 questions. Motulsky (2021) described member checking as a technique used to explore the credibility of the interviews. I asked the participants' to review my interpretation of their responses and make changes that align with their initial interview. Member checking included potential follow-up interviews adding to the thickness of the participants' initial interview responses, requiring them to review their updated answers' interpretation. There were no new follow-up interviews following the initial member checking procedure.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers utilize various data collection techniques in exploring a qualitative research phenomenon. Chu and Ke (2017) suggested that researchers collecting data may want to consider the data collection technique that best aligns with their study. Three primary data collection forms include interviews and document reviews (Snyder, 2019). Yin (2017) suggested the minimum use of two data sources for case studies when

conducting qualitative research. New communication technology introductions offer researchers the opportunity to conduct qualitative research. Archibald et al. (2019) suggested that Zoom is an innovative video conferencing technology for researchers that do not have the resources to conduct face-to-face interviews.

1. I incorporated the interview protocol (see Appendix B) as a guide to collect data using video conferencing technology (Zoom). Arslangilay (2018) argued that researchers first develop an interview protocol that aligns with the study's purpose, review the literature, and conclude with an expert review of the participants' experiences. Following each interview, I shared a summary of their responses for member checking.

Different data collection techniques offered advantages and disadvantages. The primary benefit of using semistructured interviews was the high quality of data collection technique and the large quantity of data yielded in the process (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The researcher added order by their presence during the interviews. Because of my presence as the primary data collection instrument, I answered questions the participants' may have while encouraging the participants to offer more straightforward responses to the interview questions.

Researchers' perception was that face-to-face interviews are preferable because of the flexibility and personal engagement, thus offering a higher level of control during the interview than a remote facility (Arslangilay, 2018). The disadvantage to video conferencing was that the participants needed to access the internet and potentially may be reluctant to show their faces on camera (Heath et al., 2018). There are advantages of

archival data that are easily accessible and do not require personal out-of-pocket costs (Das et al., 2018). Disadvantages of archival records include gaining approval from corporate leadership for the participants' files (Barnes et al., 2018). As part of the process, I gained support from the leader for each participant's specific performance records.

Researchers approve pilot testing to validate data and collection instruments techniques. Pilot studies value assessing and preparing data collection and analysis techniques (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Malmqvist et al. (2019) suggested that pilot studies were not critical in qualitative research but can help identify potential qualitative research weaknesses. I do not plan to conduct pilot testing but call upon my chair for guidance and support.

Data Organization Technique

The data organization plan included managing the data using Microsoft Word and Excel software. To ensure data integrity, researchers recommend that the data be easily accessible, organized, and maintained in an appropriate locked location to safeguard the data's significance (Cooper, 2017). I made written notes to support the transcripts during the interviews' data analysis. Taking notes actively during the interviews may raise other questions that require further explanation from the interview participants.

Researchers are encouraged to use field notes to include the setting's details, directed as providing rich content for the study (Phillipi & Lauderdale, 2018). Phillipi and Lauderdale (2018) further reasoned that field notes serve multiple purposes that include (a) directing the researcher to stay alert and observe the environment and interaction during the interview, (b) documenting sights sounds of the physical

environment, and the researchers' impressions as they occur, (c) researchers should reflect and identify if there is any potential for bias, (d) execute the coding and the study design, (e) continue to increase the rigor and trustworthiness of the data collection process, and (f) offers the essential context to inform the data analysis.

The recording of the interviews accomplished two critical objectives for the researcher. First, the recordings captured each word the participants spoke during the interviews. The recordings offered the researcher the potential to identify patterns between the three participants' responses to the questions (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I assigned codes to the participants, eliminating any of the three participants' potential identification with a unique identifier applied to each participant, including the interview's date and times. The data storage is for 5 years, and then I will shred and destroy all files, including external hard drives and written material files relating to my personal computer.

Data Analysis

Data analysis was vital to research integrity. The use of thematic analysis supports achieving an objective evaluation of strategies that virtual leaders use in communicating strategies that enhance the productivity of virtual advertising account objectives. Thematic analysis was an appropriate qualitative research method (Nowell et al., 2017) and involved identifying themes with specific reference to the research's focus, question, context, and theoretical framework. Researchers should be mindful and move with caution in preparing the details to ensure the accuracy of research findings' (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). The implementation of thematic analysis was critical to the success of the study.

I will be using thematic analysis to analyze the data from this qualitative case study. I adhered to the six phases of thematic analysis by Braun et al. (2017), who argued that thematic analysis should be the foundational method for qualitative analysis because thematic analysis offers core skills for conducting multiple qualitative analysis forms. The six-phase method was an iterative and reflective process that improves over time and involves a continual motion of the back and forth between the different phases. The 6 steps include (a) familiarizing yourself with your data, (b) generating initial codes, (c) searching for themes, (d) reviewing themes, (e) defining and naming themes, and (f) producing the report. During the thematic analysis process, I took the following actions:

- I submerged myself into the data by conducting multiple reviews of the
 interview transcripts. Triangulation of different data collection modes,
 detailing my theoretical and reflective thoughts, managing and organizing all
 field notes reflective journals. Also, I documented my thoughts concerning the
 potential coding of varying themes vital to the study's success, including
 primary and secondary data in the analysis.
- 2. I included participant debriefings added initial codes from the literature review conceptual framework to have an audit trail of code generation. I used the NVivoTM (2018) software program to organize and label the data to identify codes and continue my reflexive journal's development richness.
- 3. I diagramed any theme connections that arose, kept detailed notes coding primary and secondary themes, and recognized patterns that bring out significance from the data relating to the research question.

- 4. I continued defining primary and secondary themes and determining the accuracy in testing for referential adequacy by going back and massaging the data for consistency, new themes, and eliminating previous ones that were no longer valid. I relied on the NVivo software program to confirm that all themes align with the data.
- 5. I reviewed and organized each primary and secondary theme to determine if they answered the research question. In this final phase, I defined in specific terms what each theme represented in relationship with the primary and secondary themes.
- 6. I submitted a review of the overall findings of my study.

The researcher is responsible for accurately defining the procedures and processes in collecting and interpreting the findings. Data analysis in qualitative research involved systematically searching and arranging the interview transcripts and observation notes to include other non-textual materials used in developing a working knowledge of the phenomenon. Yin (2018) described data analysis as categorizing data that results in evidence-backed results. Popence et al. (2021) defined data analysis as a tool for collecting, filtering and organizing data to describe conclusions based on the researcher's data. I used Microsoft Excel and Word as tools to record, code, adjust and redefine themes and present results in multiple tables. Korstjens and Moser (2018) argued that researchers should repeatedly interact with the data on an ongoing basis, leading to reimaging different understandings and perceptions.

Researchers rely on qualitative data analysis software during the analysis phase of

the research study. I used NVivo as a software tool to collect, organize, and visualize the semistructured interviews. The software classifies, sorts, and arranges information, examines the data's relationships, and combines analysis with linking, shaping, searching, and modeling (Patias et al., 2016). Hurst et al. (2015) identified four stages in analyzing the NVivoTM software: comprehension, synthesizing, theorizing, and recontextualizing. The data analysis culminated with the linking and contrasting emergent themes utilizing the reviewed literature and the conceptual study framework.

Triangulation uses more than one method in collecting data on the same topic. Triangulation was suitable for data analysis in case studies (Yin, 2018). Triangulation uses multiple approaches in applying different investigative methods to the same phenomenon (Braun et al., 2017). There were four different types of triangulation that include (a) data triangulation, (b) theoretical triangulation, (c) research triangulation, and (d) methodological triangulation (Abdalla et al., 2018). I incorporated methodological triangulation to secure information from the participants as my primary source of interviews for this study. I analyzed written performance documentation and other direct field observations and agreed-upon commitments as the secondary data sources.

Researchers use methodological triangulation to increase their ability to interpret their conclusions (Renz et al., 2018). Honorene (2017) argued that methodological triangulation involves using multiple data sources to understand the data. I used performance appraisals, sales results performance, and other written communications between the participants and their teams and included my field journal notes to strengthen my study's validity. Honorene argued that methodological triangulation gives the

researcher a more thoughtful understanding while making sense of the data and information discovered. Helle-Valle and Borchgrevink (2018) argued that triangulation supports reducing potential problems in the data's reliability. I proceeded through the methodological triangulation of data for this study by securing information from the participants through semiconstructed interviews as the foundational data source.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are fundamental to all research. Chattaraj & Vijayaraghavan (2021) suggested that qualitative researchers focus on credibility, confirmability, transferability, and dependability. Researchers emphasized that the rigor of qualitative research links to reliability and validity are central features of quality. Yin (2018) argued that reliability and validity strengthen the research results' accuracy and quality. Researchers outline the data collection and analysis so others may replicate the study for reliability and dependability. The goal for qualitative researchers was to ensure the research results' trustworthiness. Trustworthiness was essential in evaluating qualitative research studies (Maher et al., 2018). Researchers should consider that during the study's research and implementation phases, describe strategies that enhance the study's credibility and validity. My goal was to develop communication strategies that enhance the productivity of virtual sales teams.

Reliability

Procedural consistency is vital to the reliability of a study. Cypress (2017) suggested that the findings' replicability improved a researcher's findings' stability and reliability. Chae (2016) described dependability as the stability of the results over time

and the study's conditions. Dependability is a vital factor in performing reliable research. Dependability relates to researchers' procedures and processes to collect, interpret, and analyze the research data (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2016). Lemon and Hayes (2020) characterized dependability as a substitute for reliability and that the findings are unique and consistent throughout the data collected. Some of the ways used to enhance the study's dependability included member checking of data interpretation, transcript review, and interview protocol. I demonstrated trustworthiness by defining with detail the business problem's documentation, purpose, study participants, data collection methods, data analysis, expert validation of the research questions, and concluded with the research findings.

Methodological triangulation offers the researcher a multi-method approach when exploring the same phenomenon. Heesen et al. (2019) defined methodological triangulation as the convergence of multiple methods upon a single conclusion as the best-supported conclusions than only one method. Campbell et al. (2022) recommended that the researcher use a minimum of two data sources when using methodological triangulation. I achieved dependability by offering detailed information collected during the study to enable future researchers to achieve similar results.

Validity

Validity (trustworthiness) is continually developing through qualitative research studies. Truth in a study increases when there is ongoing contact with the participants' (Peterson et al, 2021; Faris, 2017). Interpretive validity captures the researcher's sensitivity and mental process used in interpreting the meaning of the objects, events,

values, and behaviors of the participants involved in the studied phenomenon (Maxwell, 1992). Trustworthiness is a technique researchers can use to persuade others that their research findings are valuable (McNutt et al., 2021). The research study's value is the study's trustworthiness, credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Lincoln and Guba (1986) defined the four components of trustworthiness as, (a) credibility is the confidence in the truth of the findings, (b) transferability demonstrates that the findings have applicability in another context, (c) dependability reveals that the findings are consistent, replicable and (d) confirmability was the degree of neutrality or the extent to which the respondents shape the findings of study respondents and not researcher bias shape the findings of a study.

I performed member checking and methodological triangulation to confirm the researcher's interpretation and objectivity to ensure the study's validity. Researchers use member checking and triangulation to ensure reliable results and data. Hersey et al. (2001) argued that member checking involves sharing collected data anonymously with the expectation of the participants' feedback to the researcher.

Credibility

Credibility in qualitative research was the correct and factual interpretation of participants' personal experiences. Credibility was rooted in truth and values from a detailed response from the participants' lived experiences (Lemon & Hayes, 2020). The more time devoted to staying in communication' with the participants' will result in a deeper and broader data range. To ensure credibility, I (a) maintained a thick field journal accounting of this study, (b) using interview protocol, I eliminated any personal bias by

remaining neutral with the intent of not influencing an expected response and kept the interview questions simple by avoiding words that may introduce a bias, (c) maintain contact throughout the study with the participants, (d) initiate member checking, and (e) triangulation. I kept detailed notes in a journal to reflect and compare the three participants' original interviews. My overreaching objective was to create richer information in the development of this study.

Yin (2018) suggested that researchers be objective and accurate when interpreting the participants' interview questions to ensure researcher credibility. Engaging with the participants, I used triangulation to compare archival records to the interpreted data from future interviews to confirm or compare the findings. I used triangulation to reinforce and corroborate the outcomes of my research.

Transferability

The transferability of findings was the ability of future researchers to discover similar outcomes to the original research. Yin (2017) defined transferability as a process where future researchers replicate effects identical to previous research. Transferability was a characteristic of a trustworthy study (Nyirenda et al., 2020). The objective of a study is to present rich details so that others could determine if the findings are transferable for other research studies (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Although research findings may not be directly transferrable to other industries, leaders in other areas may find their leadership circumstances similar and use the further study's conclusions as a valuable tool for their studies (Levitt et al., 2017). The study results may also offer leaders the best communications strategies working with virtual sales teams. My study's

conclusions may offer different researchers strategies to enhance their virtual team members' performance.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the final gauge of trustworthiness that qualitative researchers precondition for achievement. Korstjens & Moser (2018) argued that researchers achieve confirmability when the outcomes become consistent. Ultimately, once the researcher accurately replicates the participants' experiences, there was conformability (Prochner, 2022). Fusch and Ness (2015) suggested using member checking to confirm confirmability. Reflexivity (member checking) and data triangulation confirmed my research findings' confirmability. Reflective journals are records that maintain information to establish confirmability (Rania et al., 2021). I used a reflexive journal to chronicle history and preserved each step's audit trail in the research process.

Incorporating member checking offers the participants' the opportunity to verify the research data and check their accuracy in offering new details to their original responses (Busetto, 2020). Methodological triangulation will add to the power of the reliability and validity of the study. I used member checking to contact the participants for a follow-up interview to confirm that what I recorded was the correct response.

Participants' may also add information after the initial interviews. I asserted that any assumptions, including any bias in transcribing the responses to each participant's questions and other details missed during the initial interview and all subsequent meetings, were included in member checking. Examining the research data thoroughly to ensure accuracy and validity achieves confirmability. Forero et al. (2016) argued that

confirmability achievement occurs when other researchers can replicate the exact outcomes of a research study. I achieved confirmability in that other researchers could replicate and corroborate my research findings by carefully following each step of the research process.

Data Saturation

Researchers use data saturation as a criterion for discontinuing further data collection and analysis. Fusch and Fusch (2015) defined data saturation as that moment in the research where no new information is being observed by asking the participants questions. Fusch and Fusch (2015) determined that data saturation occurs only when additional coding and interpretation presents no new information. Saunders et al. (2018) suggested that saturation is helpful in qualitative research as a condition for discontinuing the data collection process. Guest et al. (2020 argued that saturation was the most publicized guarantee of qualitative rigor. When researchers fail to achieve data saturation, the study's quality is harmful, as is its credibility and dependability, including its quality (Tran et al., 2016). I achieved data saturation through member checking and methodological triangulation. I sought further information, including themes and patterns, while exhausting every opportunity to gather new data. I reviewed all documents referencing communication strategies that enhance the productivity of virtual sales teams. I determined that their results would align with this study if other researchers asked the same interview questions in the same order and time frame that I experienced in this study.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included the problem statement and the purpose of the study. I defined my role as the researcher to have the selection criteria and processes leaders use to manage virtual sales teams in the online automotive sales industry. The section presented a detailed description and justification of the research method and design used for the study. I offered the population and sample, and I defended the ethical standards throughout the study. The participants' ethical protection and results were paramount during and after the study was completed and published.

Also, I defined the value of using a qualitative single case study design. I presented a discussion related to the data analysis methods to include the reliability and validity of the study. I explained the member checking process with the completion of the interviews. Using methodological triangulation in the review of historical information added richness to the research data. I conducted virtual semistructured interviews using Zoom video conferencing to see the interviewees in real-time. I used NVivo software to manage, organize, code, and analyze the data.

In Section 3, I presented my research findings and application for professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for virtual leaders, and reflections on the study. I delivered the results and offered how they may affect other virtual leaders and their virtual teams. In addition, I included a detailed discussion on the applicability of the findings to professional business practices.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive single case study was to identify communication strategies that some online automotive managers in one organization used to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity. Organizational leaders have increasingly shifted from conventional collated teams to virtual teamwork amid advancements in technology (Davidaviciene et al., 2020; Mehtab et al., 2017). Virtual leaders representing California, Washington, Oregon, and Idaho participated in this qualitative single case study. The data collection included semistructured interviews, journal notes, video conferencing observations, and other documents aligned with their teams' performance.

I used NVivo software to code the gathered semistructured interview transcripts into Microsoft Word. After completing the data analysis, I identified themes from the three selected leaders currently leading successful sales teams. The findings identified the communication strategies that the participating virtual leaders reported relying on to enhance their teams' performance.

Section 3 includes the thematic presentation of the findings. I present the communication strategies that, based on the data analyzed, enhanced the productivity of participants' virtual sales teams. In addition, I consider future applications of study findings for virtual leaders responsible for the productivity of their sales teams as well as the study's implications for positive social change. Finally, recommendations for action

and future research are presented. Section 3 closes with my final reflections and conclusions.

Presentation of the Findings

The primary research question for this study was, What are the communication strategies that some online automotive managers use to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity? To answer the research question, I conducted semiconstructed interviews with the support of Zoom conferencing technology. Each of the three online automotive managers from one company responded to the semistructured, open-ended questions. The focus of the questions was on how each participant communicates strategies to maintain productivity among their team members. In addition to the interviews, I reviewed other leader correspondence and documents, which included (a) regional reports, (b) the NVision leadership training manual, (c) the regional team website, and (d) dealer performance tracking reports and account executive performance appraisals. I relied on Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-phase analysis to identify potential themes and patterns within my collected data. In addition, I used NVivo software to organize the data to include the study. Three primary themes emerged from an analysis of the data: (a) accountability, (b) leadership communication and engagement practices, and (c) leadership roles in virtual teams.

Theme 1: Accountability

Accountability was the first theme to emerge from the data. All three leader participants defined accountability as a communication strategy to enhance productivity. Two subthemes related to improving the productivity of the virtual sales team emerged:

quantitative goals and transparency. I report the outcomes of the themes to answer the research question.

Quantitative Goals

In the study of this industry segment, quantitative goals were the number one measurement defining success between the leader and their assigned followers. Each virtual team member was responsible for a limited list of quantitative measurements. P1, P2, and P3 declared that the success measurement was quantitative. P2 stated, "We view our individual and team success quantitatively." P2 continued, "Productivity was a combined measurement of multiple variables that included account growth, retention of business, and the level of success in developing the relationship between the account executive and the various decision-makers within each dealership." P1 shared the customer relationship management tool to identify each dealership in any specific account executives' market along with detailed data for each account. P1 went on to say, "One of the goals for each account executive was to sell only those programs that are justifiable for the dealership."

P1, P2, and P3 added ongoing quantitative evaluations of how each dealer was performing based on the different products offered by the account executive. The dealer performance spreadsheet was a forever-changing measurement tool discussion between the leader and account executive. P1 revealed, "Strategies included statistical achievement reports, virtual audits of products with sales members and dealers. CRM (Customer Relationship Management) workforce reviews and the reset of expectations with sales team members and auto dealers." Although P1, P2, and P3 worked virtually

with their account executives, the COVID-19 pandemic further restricted opportunities to meet face-to-face with executives. Enhanced virtual leadership training offered P1, P2, and P3 the chance to work closely and more effectively with their team members by performing a more in-depth review of dealer results and defining where the account executive should focus their efforts.

Communicating using video conferencing (Microsoft Teams) gave the account executives in the study more time to reach out to more dealer decision-makers daily, offering their guidance and expertise. Leaders of account executives were in a position to meet virtually and spend more time evaluating and teaching account executives to become more successful. P1 commented, "As the leader, we can now become laser-focused on finding solutions to dealer problems with well thought out solutions based on telemetry provided by the organization."

Transparency

Transparency was a core tenet in the success of the virtual teams that participants led. P1 identified transparency "as the number one issue in leading a virtual team of sales consultants." Gierlich-Jonas et al. (2020) defined transparency as the disclosure of information between groups of individuals to create a higher level of trust and accountability. P1 also expressed that transparency was important because team members want to know how they perform as individuals and as a team. P2 suggested that transparency was essential when the organization determined a need for change. P2 continued expressing that when there was transparency, everyone on the team heard from one voice as to why the change was needed and how it will benefit the team and

company. As individuals, P2 explained that the entire team could learn from their wins and losses with transparency.

P3 did not use the term *transparency* but spoke at length about the Customer relationship management they used to measure the performance of the account executives and the automotive dealerships they are assigned. Technology has played an essential role in the ability of companies to become more transparent. Some leaders view the generation of large volumes of data made possible by technology as promoting higher transparency levels (Gierlich-Jonas et al., 2020). Also, in addition to increases in data availability, the data can now be quickly processed and potentially acted upon by the leader (Rodríguez-Mazahua et al., 2016). Others, though, note a potential downside to how leaders introduce transparency.

The perception of the term transparency can have a negative connotation and potentially direct blame versus as a tool for sharing how an individual or team can improve. In that case, unintended negative consequences may arise, resulting in a lack of trust and motivation and decreased performance (Valentinov et al., 2019). How teams view transparency is dependent on how leadership uses the data with the team. P1, P2, and P3 voiced their concerns about data in regard to transparency of delivery and the leader's intentions. The participants recognized that communication with each team member could have unintended consequences because each team member may hear the message differently. P1, P2, and P3 recognized the importance of delivering their messaging through transparency.

Theme 2: Leadership Communication and Engagement Practices

The second theme that emerged from the data was leadership communication and engagement practices. The data from my analysis supported one subtheme: technology tools for the engagement of individual team members. Each of the three participants shared their interpretations of what it means to engage with their assigned team members. The outcomes of the subtheme appear to support the research question.

Leading virtual teams is fundamentally different than collocated teams.

Bekirogullari and Thambusamy (2020) determined that one significant difference was that virtual teams need increased engagement time. P1, P2, and P3 each participated in an earned certificate program directed at coaching virtual teams, of which engagement was a crucial component. The 48-page training manual includes 13 sections of sales effectiveness training for the frontline leaders in developing successful virtual teams. The coaching sections includes core coaching competencies that include, (a) establishing the coaching agreement with the leader and account executive, (b) establishing trust, active listening skills, (c) direct communication, (d) creating awareness, (e) planning, and (f) goal setting. Each of these areas is in some form directly associated with how leaders should communicate and engage with their virtual team members individually and collectively.

P3 elaborated on the subject of engagement by noting how the account executives engage with one another. P3 encouraged the team to address current events that shape the auto industry. Sharing industry insights encourages the team to discuss how to manage this knowledge in developing the relationship between the auto dealer and their account

executive. P3 viewed himself at times as the facilitator while encouraging sales team members to share their successes to include their personal best practices.

Technology Tools Used for Communication and Engagement

Technology tools for engagement were an active item of interest for each of the participants. P1, P2, and P3 each expressed a need for not overcommunicating with either the team as a whole or individually. The participants asserted that overcommunicating with various forms of technology could have unintended consequences for the team, thus losing the intent of the engagement and lowering the impact of the communication. The three participants were all from the same organization and used the same quiver of technology tools: cell phone, text messaging, email, video conferencing, and personal and team websites. Microsoft Teams offered a bundle of products that leadership and the sales team could use to communicate and engage with their dealer clients.

Leaders of virtual teams also need to be aware of overengaging with their team members with an excessive volume of technology. P2 stated, "We made a list of by-laws that defined what, when, and how different technology was acceptable when corresponding with members of the team." This participant's assessment aligns with Chamakiotis et al.'s (2021) voicing of concerns that virtual teams can catch Zoom fatigue. Sugden (2020) suggested that the inappropriate use of technology can impact workers' health and potentially have an adverse response lowering their performance. P1, P2, and P3 intimated in comments outside their interviews that there was constant change in how leadership and sales teams interact using different forms of technology. The interaction included the best method to call a team member versus sending an email or

text message. The time of day was also a consideration in determining the best method of contacting a team member. Powell (2020) noted that problems could arise due to the overlapping of working from home while caring for a family. At times work-life balance can become blurred working from home.

The three interviewed leaders spoke extensively about video conferencing technology, specifically Microsoft Teams. P2 agreed that when the team met using video conferencing, everyone on the call would dress for work and participate in the agenda for the video conference. Also, there was a requirement that all members on the video conferencing call would have their cameras turned on. The meetings needed to stay on script and not exceed 45 minutes to 1 hour. Although each leader was different, they met with their respective teams weekly or biweekly using video conferencing.

Theme 3: Leadership Role of Virtual Teams

The third theme that emerged from the data analysis was the leadership role of virtual leaders. The leadership role in virtual teams emerged from the discussions of virtual leaders' responsibilities in communicating strategies virtual leaders use to enhance the productivity of their virtual sales teams. Two subthemes aligned with the central theme. These include communication with team members and trust between leaders and followers.

Leadership Communication in Virtual Teams

When working with virtual team members, there can be a misinterpretation of the terms *communication* and *engagement*. P1 and P2 noted that although the definitions of communication and engagement are subtle, there is a difference between the two terms

that requires explanation and understanding by the participant's to maximize their leadership skills. In offering a sharper definition, communication focuses on content to the intended audience, and engagement focuses on who was listening and what they hear in the conversation. Another way of presenting the differences between communication and engagement is that communication can occur without engagement. Engagement, though, cannot take place without communication. The NVision coaching certificate course, which all frontline leaders of virtual teams attended, including P1, P2, and P3, focused directly on the importance of different processes in communication and engagement with their sales teams. Some of these areas of learning include active listening skills, powerful questioning skills, and creating awareness. P2 talked about communicating with an account executive to find common ground while balancing corporate quantitative objectives and the quantitative objectives that account executives define personally.

P3 talked about focusing on how the sales team was interpreting the tone and words of the conversation. Communication and engagement were areas for improvement and would require ongoing evaluation and adjustments. P2 emphasized that communication should be timely and precise and make sure that the team are made aware of any changes that would affect them directly. P1 offered that open communications were vital to the entire team's success. P3 stated that "leaders and the team members must make themselves vulnerable to success." P1, P2, and P3 all supported the notion that they would use language that has the most significant positive impact on the team to communicate effectively.

Trust in Virtual Teams

Trust dynamics was an issue that was front and center for the leaders in this study. Leaders needed to trust the production, effectiveness, and reliability of their team members working virtually. Agarwal et al. (2020) argued that where there are high levels of trust throughout the organization, workers demonstrate higher levels of commitment to their area of responsibility and make the right decisions. Hacker et al. (2019) emphasized that virtual leaders need to continuously monitor and groom a culture of trust between the leader and the team members and cultivate trust between the team members themselves. Where trust exists in virtual teams, cohesion within the group also includes team empowerment (Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). The participants offered their definition of trust.

P2 offered a short and accurate definition of trust, stating, "The leader must trust and have faith in each team member." P2 continued by offering, "have the courage as a leader to let your team try new ideas; just don't let them fall off the cliff." P3 talked about "co-creating the relationship by establishing trust with the team member." P3 continued by noting that the leader's responsibility was to create a safe, supportive environment that nurtures mutual respect, resulting in trust between the leader and their followers. In areas where the sales member may show sensitivity, the leader should consider asking for permission to coach the team member. P3 concluded that demonstrating trust includes respecting your team members' perceptions, learning style, and being, and trust between the leader and follower. P3 noted that trust had championed new behaviors and actions, including risk-taking and the fear of failure.

Relevance of the Findings to the Literature

Three themes emerged from the data analysis that answered my research question: What are the communication strategies that some online automotive managers use to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity? The themes included accountability, leadership communication, engagement practices, and leadership roles in virtual teams. The leader participant's responses to the questions demonstrated that each used communication strategies to enhance the productivity of their virtual sales team members. One of the keys to employee performance was the virtual leader defining specific goals. Rodriguez and Walters (2017) posited that as leaders work to achieve higher levels of employee performance, there was a need to define goals and standards measurement. Leaders of virtual teams who define communication strategies that enhance productivity will recognize superior results.

The first theme that emerged from the data analysis was the accountability of the virtual sales executive. Moving forward, the meaning of enhancing performance will change. Sharma et al. (2020) contend that account executives still need to evolve beyond just financial expectations to include multiple measurements such as customer feedback, teamwork, and expanding the account executive's ability to learn. Leaders also have to evolve with their sales teams. Leaders need to adapt and refrain from acting as micromanagers. Magpili and Pazos (2018) argued that leaders' excessive intervention could negatively affect team performance. In addition, future account executives need to have creative problem-solving skills innovativeness and build trust up and down the organization. The study results indicate that accountability was an ongoing

transformational process between auto dealers and account executives.

Leadership communication and engagement practices were the second theme that emerged from the data analysis. Although there can be stressful times for leaders in virtual teams, leaders must remember the advantages of exceptional leadership.

Influential leaders encourage open and honest two-way communication with their teams, including the employee's input and reasoning for their decision-making processes (Agarwal et al., 2020). Video conferencing was now an accepted practice in virtual team settings. Virtual team meetings are now the standard for virtual teams. Virtual team meetings are now a standard when working remotely (Zeuge et al., 2020). Leadership engagement was an ongoing responsibility of virtual leaders. Virtual leaders should recognize that leadership was not a one-time event but should foster an environment of continuing engagement with team members (Chamakiotis et al., 2021). The study's results suggested that leaders who value ongoing communication and engagement techniques may support the communication strategies that enhance the performance of their virtual teams.

The leadership role in virtual teams was the third theme that emerged from the data analysis. Leadership in virtual teams was essential to the team's success, and the organization and virtual teams will continue to be the dominant working method (Barnes, 2020). Gibbs et al. (2021) emphasized the importance of the virtual leader interaction and communication within the team's configuration. Leaders can have an effect that diminishes the reputation of status differences between the members, thus influencing the members' engagement. Hacker et al. (2019) argued that virtual leaders should

continuously monitor and promote a culture where there was trust between the leader and their followers and trust between the team members resulting in higher performance.

Therefore, based on the study's results, leaders that effectively communicate strategies can enhance the productivity of their virtual sales teams.

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the situational leadership model. I used the situational leadership model to understand communication strategies in one organization to motivate virtual sales team members to maintain productivity. The situational leadership model was a union based on a leader's knowledge of the individual's developmental needs and assigned to the leader (Benmira & Agboola, 2021). Hersey (1997) suggested that elite leaders select the best leadership style based on their follower's ability to respond effectively to different situations. Leaders must have the core competency to assess the problem and apply the correct type (Hersey & Blanchard, 1981). The key to a leader and follower relationship's success was that the leaders must also know as a precondition that the follower was ready and willing to accept the assigned task (Hersey & Blanchard, 1969). P3 talked specifically about knowing when the account executive is ready for the next step in their development. P1 and P2 addressed the need for leaders to lean into their account executives based on where the account executive was in their willingness and confidence level to take steps in their individual development. The participants' responses aligned with Hersey's and Blanchard's situational leadership model, showing how the leader's communication strategies can directly impact performance.

The themes identified in the study were accountability, leadership communication and engagement practices, and leadership role in virtual teams. All of the themes identified aligned with the Hersey and Blanchard situational leadership model. P1, P2, and P3 talked about balancing corporate objectives and balancing that with the core competency of each team member. Five different subthemes surfaced from communication strategies: quantitative goals, transparency, technology tools used for communication and engagement, leadership communication in virtual teams, and trust in virtual teams.

The five subthemes align with successful situational leaders' leadership and follower performance. Performance management was dependent on technical tools that measure performance data and evaluation. Asif and Rathore (2021) argued that organizations must bring together management and employees to define and meet goal expectations. Transparency was one of the fundamental indicators of success in virtual teams. Transparency plays a vital role in innovations relating to digital leadership (Gierlich-Jonas et al., 2020). P1, P2, and P3 talked about the importance of transparency between the leader and followers.

The advancement of digital technology has made it unnecessary for organizations to have company offices because of the access to personal computers, cloud computing, and other mobile devices (Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). Effective leadership communication was a vital function in the success of virtual teams. Without the innovations of technology tools to support virtual teams, there would be no virtual teams. Communication was a critical indicator of the performance of a virtual team (Topaloglu

& Anac, 2021). P1 and P2 expressed that without all of the technology tools resources, they would not have been able to meet the needs of their followers and the auto dealers they represented. In virtual teams, trust was essential to performance. Shaik and Makhecha (2019) posited that the role of trust in virtual teams requires additional trust levels because there was limited or no face-to-face interaction. P1, P2, and P3 agreed they are working to hone their skills in the area of trust. Therefore, accountability, leadership communication, engagement practices, and leadership in virtual teams are strategies that virtual leaders can use to enhance their teams' performance.

Effective Business Practices

The findings from this study revealed that communication strategies enhance the productivity of virtual account executives. Marlow et al. (2017) determined that effective communication processes improve virtual team performance. Although virtual leaders have made great strides in virtual communication, virtual members and leaders face communication and collaboration challenges (Cordes, 2017). Garro-Abarca et al. (2021) concluded that leaders in virtual teams must use a style that fosters trust that directly impacts team performance. Larson and DeChurch (2020) argued that leadership was a prerequisite with high performance and sustainability expectations. Therefore, the alignment of communication strategies by leaders appears to align with the three themes of this study (accountability, leadership communication engagement practices, and leadership role in virtual teams).

Document Analysis

The participants presented documents I reviewed, including the NVision leadership training manual, account executive performance reports, and their regional website page. The documents provided by the participants presented additional confirmation and consistency with their description in answering the research question. Virtual leaders that offer communication strategies can develop plans that address the developmental needs to increase the productivity of each individual on their team. Leaders in virtual teams who use various communication strategies offer greater clarity to their role resulting in enhanced performance of their team members. The use of the NVision leadership manual supported the conclusion that leadership communication strategies are essential for individual and team performance.

Triangulation of Data Sources

I engaged in the use of methodological triangulation in developing a working knowledge of the communication strategies leaders use to enhance the productivity of their virtual sales teams. Campbell et al.(2020) suggested that methodological triangulation can improve the analysis that includes the interpretation of the findings. Zoom technology was the video technology used in conducting semistructured interviews with the three participants. I reviewed the NVision training manual, account executive performance reports, and their regional website. These are all documents used in offering communication strategies to enhance their team's productivity. I used methodological triangulation to synthesize and analyze the data and merge the collected information to support my research question. The themes and subthemes that emerged included

accountability, communication, trust, and the leader's role in virtual teams supported by the interviews and supporting documents provided by the three leaders interviewed.

Following the interviews and reviewing all the documents, I determined that the findings from the data collection were in alignment in supporting the interviewees' responses.

Applications to Professional Practice

Enhancing productivity is an ongoing issue with virtual teams. As more organizations gravitate to incorporating virtual team structures, each will need to learn how virtual teams differ from collated team structures to remain competitive. In the digital era, the processes of businesses have changed, and companies are pivoting to update and increase their core competency to compete successfully in a digital world comprised of virtual teams (Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). The findings may add relevance to virtual sales leaders learning in the automotive industry. This study's findings are relevant to virtual team structures and how leaders execute communication strategies that lead to superior performance.

Leaders may use the findings to enhance the performance of virtual sales teams in the online automotive industry that leaders should initiate (a) accountability, (b) leadership communication and engagement practices, and (c) leadership roles in virtual teams. Virtual leaders who elect to institute these three themes and subthemes could potentially experience enhanced productivity from their virtual sales team members. Leadership plays a fundamental role in influencing the collaboration and execution of virtual team performance (Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). Virtual leaders may find this study

of value in offering solutions that enhance the accountability, communication, and engagement practices and the role leaders play in the success of virtual teams.

Implications for Social Change

The findings regarding virtual teams may positively influence hiring employees who may have limited employment opportunities in local and rural communities. One effect of social change is that leaders could employ the best employees in a large metropolitan area or small rural communities no matter where they live. There is a shift to working virtually, reducing commuting time and transportation costs (De Fraja et al., 2021). Barrero et al. (2021) suggested that the change to working virtual will have financial benefits to other communities because employees no longer have to commute longer distances to corporate and regional offices. Abrams (2019) suggested that virtual workers can also increase employee productivity and morale when implemented correctly. Therefore, the findings may influence social changes from overall economic growth for local communities, thus benefiting the citizens and their families.

Virtual workers may have other positive effects on social change that reflects not only on the individual but also on the community. When individuals and organizations learn to master techniques to increase their performance working virtually, there was also a corresponding positive economic effect for local communities in the form of supporting local schools and other local programs. Financial and intellectual investments such as mental and physical well-being programs increase residents' engagement (Weideman & Hofmeyer, 2020). Finally, when members of communities are successful, they are more likely to engage in the support and welfare of their local community

Recommendations for Action

Virtual leaders seeking to enhance the productivity of virtual sales executives through new communication strategy practices may find the study's results valuable. The discovery findings found that when virtual leaders use specific communications strategies, productivity does increase. For the three participants involved in the study, all of the members of their vertical sales teams were either achieving or exceeding performance expectations. The second theme of the study was leadership communication and engagement practices and found that leadership practices in virtual teams are different than that of collated team structures.

An essential characteristic of virtual teams that was functionally different from collated teams was a significant reliance on technology tools (Garro-Abarca et al., 2021). The three participants talked about the heavy use of technology between the leader and their team members and how the account executives communicate with their assigned accounts. Without technology, it would be difficult for virtual teams to function successfully. Business dynamics and the successes in developing different technologies (software and hardware infrastructures, personal equipment, laptops, and cell phones) had made virtual teams a reality (Sanchez, 2017). Using the findings from this study, I encourage leaders that rely heavily on continuous training opportunities for their virtual leaders and virtual team members.

Leadership in organizations that rely heavily on technology in communicating with their vertical sales teams may want to consider offering ongoing training to develop a working knowledge of new technologies and become certified masters of the

technology. During their weekly video conferencing meeting, the participants discussed that training and learning new methods of developing their account base were advantageous. Rodriquez and Walters (2017) suggested it was the responsibility of organizational leaders to be aware of the importance that training and development impact the performance of the individual team members. The participants in the study all agreed that the primary incentive for sales executives was financial rewards. Therefore, leaders in virtual organizations may want to consider compensating sales executives based on sales and completing a series of different training courses.

Recommendations for Further Research

As virtual teams continue to grow, there remain challenges in multiple areas. Effective management in terms of trust and performance are just two of the numerous risk factors in leading virtual teams (Zaharie, 2021). I initiated a single case study to identify communication strategies leaders use to improve the performance of their virtual teams. My recommendation is for further study and research into a deeper understanding of communication strategies that enhance the productivity of virtual sales executives in the automotive industry.

The primary limitation of this study was a qualitative single case study. A multiple case study user includes more than one observation of the phenomenon (Halkias & Neubert, 2020). The interviews conducted were with one organization. Future researchers could use a multiple case study inviting different leaders from varying industries. There was the potential for future researchers to include more leaders in a multiple case study that focuses on communication strategies leaders use to enhance

productivity with their teams. Gustafsson (2017) articulated that numerous case studies may be more desirable than single case studies because the researcher can analyze the data within each situation to include different situations. The sample size for this study included three participants. Researchers in the future may want to use a larger sample size, thus contributing more details from a broader collection of participants. Some interview studies can have as many as 50 to 60 interviews to reach saturation (Vasileiou et al., 2018). My research took place in California, Oregon, Washington, and geography located in Idaho. Future studies could include other geographies throughout the United States.

Reflections

Upon reflection, in earning my doctoral degree from Walden University, the journey has taught me to become a more astute leader relating to critical thinking in viewing issues and problems deeper and broader. Specifically, my writing skills have developed where I now feel confident in thoroughly presenting my thoughts and then supporting that thinking with scholarly literature. The annotated bibliographies suggested a structured approach that offered a more applicable method for conducting literature reviews for my area of study. Reflecting on time management skills, I had learned the main priorities and then applied the resources necessary to achieve my objectives within a defined time. In addition, the collaborative nature of the learning environment between my chair and classmates was invaluable in bringing out my best work as a researcher, writer, collaborator, and leader.

The research I conducted heightened my comprehension of communication strategies that leaders use in maintaining the productivity of their virtual team members. Although I had 30 years as a leader in virtual teams and the automotive industry, I did not allow my knowledge and experiences to reflect in data collection and analysis. I viewed my role as a researcher to let the data collection and analysis process define the themes and outcomes of the study. Exploring communication strategies to enhance the productivity of virtual advertising account executives has given me a working understanding of how virtual leaders' deliver and execute communication strategies that improve productivity. This doctoral study has provided me with the best opportunity to collect data and offer findings that give leaders exceptional communication strategies that enhance virtual team productivity.

Conclusion

Some leaders of virtual teams require further development in understanding the strategies required of virtual leaders to enhance the productivity of their assigned team members. The purpose of this single qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that some virtual sales leaders use to improve the productivity of their virtual account executives. The processes used in the data collection included semiconstructed questions, triangulated data, member checking, direct observations using video conferencing, and reflective journaling. In addition, I incorporated methodological triangulation for validation of the three main themes and subthemes. The conceptual framework for this study was based on the situational leadership model by (Hersey & Blanchard, 1969). The conclusions of this study offer insight into multiple strategies that virtual sales leaders

employ to enhance the productivity of their sales teams. Three main themes and five subthemes emerged: accountability, leadership communication, engagement practices, and leadership role in virtual teams. Leaders of virtual groups should recognize that communication and engagement are different in leading versus collated teams. Virtual teams require enhanced engagement using various tools (email, texting, wireless calling, website communication, and video conferencing) by their leader, leading to increased productivity.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organization research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98.

 https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abrams, Z. (2019). The future of remote work. *Monitor on Psychology*, *50*(9), 54-60. https://www.apa.org/monitor/2019/10/cover-remote-work
- Adhabi, E. A. R., & Anozie, C. B. (2017). Literature review for the type of interview in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *9*(3), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v9i3.11483
- Agarwal, S., Ferdousi, S., John, M., Nalven, A., & Stahl, T. (2020). *Effective leadership in virtual teams during the COVID-19 pandemic* (Engineering and Technology Management Student Projects No. 2298). PDXScholar. https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/etm studentprojects/2298
- Aguboshim, F. C. (2021). Adequacy of sample size in qualitative case study and the dilemma of data saturation: A narrative review. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, 10(3), 180-187.
 - https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.10.3.0277
- Aguila, E., Weidmer, B. A., Illingworth, A. R., & Martinez, H. (2016). Culturally competent informed-consent process to evaluate a social policy for older persons with low literacy: The Mexican case. *SAGE Open*, *6*(3), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016665886

- Alpi, K. M., & Evans, J. J. (2019). Distinguishing case study as a research method from case reports as a publication type. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 107(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2019.615
- Alward, E., & Phelps, Y. (2019). Impactful leadership traits of virtual leaders in higher education. *Online Learning*, 23(3), 72-93. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i3.2113
- Amers, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology, 19*, Article 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Amundsen, D. L., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). "It's a case of access." The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22(4), 5-17. https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425
- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: Perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics Information Technology*, 21(2), 137-149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arendt, J. F. W., Pirecher Verdorfer, A., & Kugler, K. G. (2019). Mindfulness and leadership: Communication as a behavioral correlate of leadership mindfulness

- and its effect on follower satisfaction. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10*, Article 667. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00667
- Arslangilay, A. S. (2018). The reflection of immigration on school culture: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(2), 585-602. https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11240a
- Arunprasad, P., Dey, C., Jebli, F., Manimuthu, A., & El Hatat, Z. (2021). Exploring the remote work challenges in the era of COVID-19 pandemic: Review and application model. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-07-2021-0421
- Asif, A., & Rathore, K. (2021). Behavioral drivers of performance in public-sector organizations: A literature review. *SAGE Open, 11*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244021989283
- Asrar-ul-Haq, M., & Anwar, S. (2018). The many faces of leadership: Proposing research agenda through a review of literature. *Future Business Journal*, *4*(2), 179-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2018.06.002
- Ataro, G. (2020). Methods, methodological challenges and lesson learned from phenomenological study about OSCE experience: Overview of paradigm-driven qualitative approach in medical education. *Annals of Medicine and Surgery, 49*, 19-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2019.11.013
- Baker, S. D., Mathis, C. J., Stites-Doe, S., & Javadian, G. (2016). The role of trust and communication in fostering followers' self-perceptions as leaders. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 28, 210-230. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44113705

- Baker, S. E., & Edwards, R. (2012). How many qualitative interviews was enough?

 National Center for Research Methods. http://eprimts.ncrm.ac.uk/2273
- Bakotic, D., & Bulog, I. (2021). Organizational Justice and Leadership Behavior

 Orientation as Predictors of Employees Job Satisfaction: Evidence from Croatia.

 Sustainability, 13, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su131910569
- Barnes, C. M., Dang, C. T., Leavitt, K., Guarana, C. L., & Uhlmann, E. L. (2018).

 Archival data in micro-organizational research: A toolkit for moving to a broader set of topics. *Journal of Management*, *44*, 1453-1478.

 https://doi.org/1177/0149206315604188
- Barnes, S. J. (2020). Information management research and practice in the post-COVID-19 world. *International Journal of Management*, *55*, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102175
- Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., & Davis, S. J. (2021). NBER working paper series why working from home will stick. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, 1-68. https://doi.org/10.3386/w28731
- Bartik, A. W., Cullen, Z. B., Glaeser, E. L. Luca, M., & Staton, C. T. (2020). What jobs are being done at home during the COVI-19 Crisi? Evidence from firm-level surveys. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.3386/w27422
- Bastirlik, S. N., Gencer, Y. G., & Akkucuk, U. (2022). Global Virtual Team Leadership Scale (GVTLAS) Deverlopment in Multinational Companies. *Sustainability*, *14*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14021038

- Batirik, S. N., Gencer, Y. G., & Akkucuk, U. (2022). Global Virtual Team Leadership Scale Development in Multinational Companies. *Sustainability*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14021038
- Bekirogullari, Z., & Thambusamy, R. X. (2020). Virtual leadership in small business during Covid-19 Pandemic: Challenges and possibilities. *The European Journal of Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 29(3), 3214-3224.

 https://doi.org/10.15405/ejsbs.281
- Benmira, S., & Agboola, M. (2021). Evolution of Leadership Theory. *BMJ Leader*, 1(5), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1136/leader-2020-000296
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BioMed Central Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(21). 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Bertrand, P., Guegan, J., Robieux, L., McCall, C. A., & Zenasni, F. (2018). Learning Empathy Through Virtual Reality: Multiple Strategies for Training Empathy-Related Abilities Using Body Ownership Illusions in Embodied Virtual Reality. *Frontiers in Psychology, 5*(26), 1-18.

 https://doi.org//10.3389/frobt.2018.0002Black, G. B., van Os, S., & Machen, S. (2021). Ethnographic research as an evolving method for supporting healthcare improvement skills: a scoping review. BMC *Medical Research Methodology*,
- Blanchard, K., Zigarmi, D., & Nelson, R. (1993). Situational leadership after 25 years: A

21(274. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01466-9

- retrospective. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies 1*(1) 21-36. https://doi.org/107179199300100104
- Blanchard, K. H., Zigarmi, D., & Zigarmi, P. (1985). *Leadership and the one minute manager: Increasing effectiveness through situational leadership* □. William Morrow and Company.
- Blanchard, K. H., Zigarmi, D., & Zigarmi, P. (2013). Leadership and the one minute manager: Increasing effectiveness through situational leadership □.

 HarperCollins Publishers.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2021). American Time Use Survey. USDL_21_1359
- Bonisteel, I., Shulman, R., Newhook, L. A., Guttman, A., Smith, S., & Chafe, R. (2021).

 Reconceptualizing recruitment in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211042493
- Bouazzaoui, M., Wu., H-J., Roehrich, J. K., Squire, B., & Roath, A. S. (2020). Justice in inter-organizational relationships: A literature review and future research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 128-137.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.003
- Bourke, J., & Titus, A. (2020). The Key to Includion Leadership. *The Harvard Business Review*, 1-6. https://hbr.org/2020/03/the-key-to-inclusive-leadership
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative* research in psychology. 3(2). 77-101.
 - https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Gray, D. (2017). Innovations in qualitative methods. In B.

- Gough (Ed.). *The Palgrave handbook of critical social psychology* 243-266. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-51018-1_13
- Breuer, C., Huffmeier, J., & Hertel, G. (2016). Does trust matter in virtual teams? A meta-analysis of trust and team effectiveness considering virtuality and documentation as moderators. *American Psychological Association*, 101(8), 1151-1177. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000113
- Breuer, C., Huffmeier, J., & Hertel, G. (2020). Trust in team: A taxonomy of perceived trustworthiness factors and risk-taking behaviors in face-to-face and virtual teams. *Human Relations*, 73(1), 3-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718818721
- Brooks, J. S., & Normore, A. H. (2015). Qualitative research and educational leadership:

 Essential dynamics to consider when designing and conducting

 studies. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *29*(7), 798-806.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-06-2015-0083
- Busch, A. A., & Amechi, M. H. (2019). Conducting and presenting qualitative research in pharmacy education. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11, 638-650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eptl.2019.02.030
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research Practice*, *2*(14), 1-10. https://doi.org10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Campbell R, Goodman-Williams R, Feeney H, Fehler-Cabral G. (2022). Assessing
 Triangulation Across Methodologies, Methods, and Stakeholder Groups: The
 Joys, Woes, and Politics of Interpreting Convergent and Divergent

- Data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *41*(1), 125-144. http//:doi.org:10.1177/1098214018804195
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing the interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831.
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Was it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning, 10*(6), 807-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chae, S. W. (2016). Perceived proximity and trust network on creative performance in virtual collaboration environment. *Procedia Computer Science*, *91*, 807-812. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.07.084
- Chamakiotis, P., Panteli, N., & Davison, R. M. (2021). Reimagining e-leaders for reconfigured virtual teams due to Covid-19. *International Journal of Information Management*, 60, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfongt.2021.102381
- Charmaz, K., & Thornberg, R. (2021). The pursuit of quality in grounded theory.

 *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 18(3), 305-327.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1780357
- Chattaraj, D., & Vijayaraghavan, A. P. (2021). The mobility paradigm in higher education: A phenomenological study on the shift in learning space. *Smart Learn, Environ*, 8(15), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-021-00162-x
- Choi, O. K., & Cho, E. (2019). The mechanism of trust affecting collaboration in virtual teams and moderating roles of the culture of anatomy and task complexity.

 **Journal of Management, 91, 305-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.09.032

- Chu, H., & Ke, Q. (2017). Research methods: What's in the name? *Library and Information Science Research*, 39(4), 284-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2017.11.001
- Chrisentary, J., & Barrett, D. (2015). An exploration of leadership in virtual communities of practice. *Management*, 20(77), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.7595/management.fon.2015.0027
- Clark, D. A. G., Marnewick, A. L., & Marnwick, C. (2019). Virtual Team Performance

 Factors: A Sytemic Literature Review. *IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management*, 40-44.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM44572.2019.8978809
- Collins, J. C. (2019). 12 common technology mistakes you should avoid. *Journal of Accountancy*, 227 (1), 1-7 https://www.journalofaccountancy.com/
- Constantinou, C. S., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (CoMeTS) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 17(5), 571-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650
- Contreras, F., Baykal, E., & Abid, G. (2020). E-Leadership and Teleworking in Times of Covid-19 and Beyond: What We Know and Where Do We Go. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1-11. https://doi.org://10.3389/psyg.2020.590271
- Cooper, P. (2017). Informatics: Data, information, knowledge and wisdom. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine (Clinical anesthesia/Ophthalmic anesthesia)*, 18, 55-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpaic.2016.10.006

- Cordes, S. (2017). Intervention for improving virtual team climate and decision performance. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, 28, 29-48. https://www.learntechlib.org/j/JILR
- Coronas, T. T., Olivia, M. A., Luna, J. C. Y., & Palma, A. M. L. (2015). Virtual teams in higher education: A review of factors affecting creative performance.

 International Joint Conference on Advances on Intelligent Systems Computing.

 Springer, 369, 629-637. https://:doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19713-5_55
- Cortellazzo, L., Bruni, E., & Zamieri, R. (2019). The role of leadership in a digitalized world: A review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *27*(10), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg2019.01938
- Das, R., Jain, K. K., & Mishra, S. K. (2018). Archival research: A neglected method in organization studies. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 25(1), 138-155.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2016-0123
- Davidaviciene, V., Meidute-Kavaliauskiene, I., & Majzoub, K. A. (2020). Factors affecting decision-making process in virtual teams in the UAE. *Information*, 11, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11100490
- DeChurch, L. A., & Zaccaro, S. J. (2015). Leadership for global virtual teams:

 Facilitating teamwork processes. In J. L. Wildman & R. L. Griffith

- (Eds.), Leading global teams: Translating multidisciplinary science to practice (p. 225–252). Springer Science + Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2050-1 10
- De Fraja, G., Matheson, J., & Rockey, J. (2021). Zoomshock: The geography and local labour market consequences of working from home. *Covid Economics*, *64*, 1-41. http://cepre.org/sites/default/files/Covid Economics64.pdf
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- de Vreede, G. J., Antunes, P., Vassileva, J., & Gerosa, M. A. (2016). Collaboration technology in teams and organizations: Introduction to the special issue.

 **Information System Frontier, 18(5), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.007/s10796-016-9632-3

 **3
- DiFranzq, A. (2019). Collabrotive Leadership: What It Is & Why It's Important.

 *Northeastern University Graduate Programs, 1-8.

 https://www.northwestern.edu/graduate/blog/collaborative-leadership
- Dorendahl, J., Niepel, C., & Greiff, S. (2020). Actual Getting Some Satisfaction on the Job: Need-Supply Fit of Fundamental Motives at Work. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01740
- Drigas, A. S. (2018). A New Layered Model on Emotional Intelligence. *Behavioral Sciences*, 8(5), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs8050045
- Dulebohn, J. H., & Hoch, J. E. (2017). Virtual teams in organizations. Human Resource

- Management Review, 27(4), 569-574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.004
- Ebrahirm, N. A., Ahmed, S., & Taha, Z. (2009). Virtual Teams: A Literature Review.

 *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences, 3(3), 2653-2669.

 http://cogprints.org/7814/1/2653-2669.pdf
- Ebneyamini, S., & Moghadam, M. R. S. (2018). Toward Developing a Framework for Conducting Case Study Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918817954
- Eseryel, U. Y., Crowston, K., & Heckman, R. (2020). Functional and Visionary

 Leadership in Self-Managing Virtual Teams. Sage Journals, 46(2), 1-40.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601120955034
- European Commission. (2017). Attitudes towards the impact of digitization and automation on daily life. 1-171. https://ec.eurpoa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/attitudes-towards-impact-digidtation-and-automation-dily-life
- Fabourate, Y., Sebele-Mpofu., & Serpa, S. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cognet Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1-63. https://fou.org10.1080/2311886.2020.1838706
- Faris, N. (2017). Leadership in an Australian context: Highlighting a qualitative investigation with construct validity support. *The Qualitative Report*, *22*(5), 1420-1438. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss5/17
- Felicity, C., & Price-Dowd, J. (2020). Your leadership style: Why understanding yourself matters. *The Learning Zone, 4,* 165-167. https://doi.org/10.1136/leader-2020-000218

- Ferrell, J., & Kline, G. (2018). Facilitating Trust and Communication in Virtual Teams.

 SHRM Executive Network, 1-9. https://www.shrm.org/executive/resources/people-strategy-journal/Spring2018/Pages/trust-communication.aspx
- Fielder, F. (1967). A theory of leadership effectiveness. McGraw-Hill
- Flavin, C., Guinaliu, M., & Jordon, P. (2019). Antecedents and consequences of trust on a virtual team leader. *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, 28, 2-24. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Antecedents-and-consequences-of-trust-on-a-virtual-Flavi%C3%A1n-Guinaliu/fbbad5f7d82f69d1f8b0d13a1eb2563fb5fc3b51
- Ford, R., Piccolo, R., & Ford, L. (2017). Strategies for building effective virtual teams:

 Trust was key. *Business Horizons*, 60(1), 25-34.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2016.08.009
- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., De Costa, J., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., McCarthy, S., & Aboagye-Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four-dimension criteria to assess rigour of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BBC Health Services**Research, 18(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2915-2
- Fusch, P. I., & Fusch, G. E. (2015). Leading and conflict resolution on the production line. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, *14*(1), 21-39. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2015.14.02
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 The Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://tqr.nova.edu
- Fulmer, C. A., & Gelfand, M. J. (2015). Trust after violations: are collectivists more or

- less forgiving? Journal of Trust Research, 5(1), 109-131. https://doi.org/
- Gamero, N., Gonzalez-Anta, B., Orengo, V., Zornoza, A., & Penarroja, V. (2021). Is

 Team Emotional Composition Essential for Virtual Team Members' Well Being?

 The Role of Team Emotional Management Intervention. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(9), 1-19.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/j=ijerph18094544
- Gardner, A., Kil, N., & van Dam, N. (2020). Research opportunities for determining the elements of early trust in virtual teams. *Management Research Review*, 43(3), 350-366. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-12-2018-0483
- Garro-Abarca, V., Palos-Sanchez, P., & Aguayo-Camacho, M. (2021). Virtual teams in times of pandemic: Factors that influence performance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.624673
- Gaubatz, J. A., & Ensminger, D. C. (2017). Department chairs as change agents: Leading change in resistant environments. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 45, 141-163. https://doi.org/10.1177/741143215587307
- Ghazzawi, K., Shoughari, R. E., & Osta, B. E. (2017). Situational leadership and its effectiveness in raising employee productivity: A study of North Lebanon organization. *Resource Management Research*, 7(3), 102-110. https://doi.org/10.5923/j.20170703.02
- Gibbs, J. L., Gibson, C. B., Grushina, S. V., & Dunlop, P. D. (2021). Understanding orientations to participation: overcoming status differences to foster engagement in global teams. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 1-19.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2020.1844796

- Gibbs, J. L., Sivunen, A., & Boyraz, M. (2017). Investigating the impacts of team type and design virtual team process. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27, 590-603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12005
- Gierlich-Jonas, M., Hess, T., & Neuburger, R. (2020). More self-organization, more control--or even both? Inverse transparency as a digital leadership concept.

 Business Research, 13, 921-947. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-020-00130-0
- Giger, J. N. (2017). *Transcultural nursing: Assessment and intervention*. (7th ed.). Mosby.
- Giles, T., de Lacey, S., & Muir-Cochrane, C. E. (2018). How do clinicians practice the principles of beneficence when deciding to allow or deny family presence during resuscitation? *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *27*(5-6), e1214-e1224.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14222
- Gilson, L. L., Maynard, M. T., Young, N. C. J., Vartiainen, M., & Hakonen, M. (2015).

 Virtual teams research: 10 years, 10 themes, and 10 opportunities. *Journal of Management*, 41(5), 1313—1337. http://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314559946
- Gonzales-Diaz, R. R., & Bustamante-Cabrera, G. I. (2021). Predictive Sequential

 Research Design to Study Complex Social Phenomena. *Entropy*, *23*(5), 627.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/e23050627
- Groberm, B., & Baumol, U. (2017). Why virtual teams work State of the art. Procedia *Computer Science*, 121, 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proes.2017.11.041
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic

- saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS One*, *15*(5), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guillemin, M., Barnard, E., Stewart, P., Walker, H., Rosenthal, D., & Gillman, L. (2018).

 Do research participants trust researchers or their institution? *Journal* of *Empirical Research on Human Ethics*, 13(3), 285-294.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618763253
- Guinot, J., & Chiva, R. (2019). Vertical Trust Within Organizations and Performance: A Systematic Review. *Human Resource Development Review*. *18*(2), 196-227. https://10.1177/1534484319842992
- Gupta, S., & Pathak, G. S. (2018). Virtual team experiences in an emerging economy: A quantitative study. *Change Management*, 31(4), 778-794. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-04-2017-0108
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A Simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS one, 15*(5), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Gustafsson, J. (2017). Single case studies vs. multiple case studies: A comparative study.

 **Academy of Business, Engineering and Science, Halmstad University, Halmstad,

 Sweden. http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1064378/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Hacker, J., Johnson, M., Saunders, C., & Thayer, A. L. (2019). Trust in virtual teams: A multidisciplinary review and integration. *Australasian Journal of Information Systems* 23, 2-6. https://doi.org/10.3127/ajis.v23i0.1757
- Haines, D. (2017). Ethical considerations in qualitative case study research recruiting

- participants with profound intellectual disabilities. *Research Ethics*, *13*(3-4), 219-232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016117711971
- Halkias, D., & Neubert, M. (2020). Extension of theory in leadership and management studies using the multiple case study design. *International Leadership Journal*, 12(2), 48-73. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3586256
- Handke, L., Klonek, F. E., Parker, S. K., & Kauffield, S. (2020). Interactive Effects of Team Virtuality and Work Design on Team Functioning. *Small Group Research*, 51(1), 3-47. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496419863490
- Heath, J., Williamson, H., Williams, L., & Harcourt, D. (2018). Parent-perceived isolation and barriers to psychosocial support: A qualitative study to investigate how peer support might help parents of burn-injured children. *Scars, Burns & Healing*, 4, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059513118763801
- Helle-Valle, J., & Borchgrevink, A. (2018). Household histories and methodological triangulation. Forum for Development Studies, 45, 191-198.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/08039410.2016.1260049
- Henkel, T. G., & Bourdeau, D. T. (2018). A field study: An examination of managers' situational leadership styles. *Journal of Diversity Management*, *13*(2). https://doi.org/10.19030/jdm.v13i2.10218
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591-608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hersey, P. (1997). Assessment and classroom learning. Assessment in Education, 5(1), 7-

- 75. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969595980050102
- Hersey, P. (2009). Situational leaders. *Leadership Excellence*, *2*(6), 12. http://leadershipexcellence.com/situationalleadership
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1969). Life cycle theory of leadership. *Training and Development Journal*, 23(5), 26-34. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ004286
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1977). *The management of organizational behavior*.

 Prentice-Hall.
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1981). So you want to know your leadership style?

 *Training & Development Journal, 35(6), 34-54. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ246644
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1982). *Management of organizational behavior*. Prentice Hall, Inc.
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1996). *Management of Organizational Behavior Utilizing Human Resources*. Prentice-Hall.
- Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (2013). *Management of organizational behavior Leading human resources*. Prentice-Hall.
- Hersey, P., Blanchard, K. H., & Johnson, D. E. (2001). *Management Organizational* behavior *Utilizing Human Behavior* (8th ed.). Prentice-Hall.
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Qualitative or mixed methods research inquiry approached: Some loose guidelines for publishing in sex roles. *Sex Roles*, 74, 6-9. https://doi.org/10.1077/s11199-015-0568-8
- Heesen, R., Bright, L. K., & Zucker, A. (2019). Vindicating methodological triangulation. *Synthese*, 196(8), 3067-3081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-016-

1294-7

- Honorene, J. (2017). Understanding the role of triangulation in research. Scholarly

 Research *Journal for Interdisciplinary Studies, 4*(31), 91-95.

 http://www.srjis.com/pages/pdfFiles/149544238718.%20HONORENO%20JOHNSON.pdf
- Hooijberg, R., & Watkins, M. (2021). The Future of Team Leadership Is Multimodal.

 *MITSloan Management Review, 1-10. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/the-future-of-team-leadership-is-multimodal/
- Humala, I. (2017). Typology on leadership toward creativity in virtual work. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information, Knowledge, and Management, 12,* 209-243. https://doi.org/10.28945/3786
- Hurst, S., Arulogun, O. S., Owolabi, M. O., Akinyemi, R., Uvere, E., Warth, S., & Ovbiagele, B. (2015). Pretesting qualitative data collection procedures to facilitate methodological adherence and team building in Nigeria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14, 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691501400106
- Islam, Q., Juraybi, M. H., & Alraythi, Y. M. (2021). Effectiveness of Situational

 Leadership Style in Managing Workplace Crisis. Saudi Journal of Business and

 Management Studies, 6(9), 362-365.
 - https://doi.org.//10.36348/sjbms.2021.v06i09.001
- Issah, M. (2018). Change leadership: The role of emotional intelligence. *Sage Open, 1-6*. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582-44018800910
- Ji, H., & Yan, J. (2020). How Team Structure Can Enhance Performance:

- TeamLongevityy's Moderating Effect and Team Coordination's Mediating effect. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1-11. https://10.3389/psyg.2020.01873
- Jimenez, A., Boehe, D. M., Taras, V., & Capara, D. V. (2017). Working across boundaries: Current and future perspectives on global virtual teams. *Journal of International Management*, 23(4), 341-349.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2017.05.001
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A Review of the Qualitative Indicators of Rigor in Qualitative Research. <u>American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education</u>, 84(1), 138-146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Joseph, D. L., Jin, J., Newman, D. A., & O'Boyle, E. H. (2015). Why does self-reported emotional intelligence predict job performance? A meta-analytic investigation of mixed EI. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 100*(2), 298-342. http://doi.org/10.101037/a0037681
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic
 methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured
 interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Kara, H., & Pickering, L. (2017). New directions in qualitative research. *Social Research Methodology*, 20(3), 239-241. https://doi.org/10.1080/136455792017.1287869
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies*, *13*(1), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31

- Katzenbach, J. R., & Smith, D. K. (2015). *The Wisdom of Teams: Creating the High- Performance Organization*. Havard Business Review Press.
- Khan M. (2021). 5data-driven ways to tackle the challenges of virtual teamwork. *Work Life*, 1-6. https://www.atlassian.com/blog/teamwork/challenges-virtual-teams
- Kiely, G., Butler, T., & Finnegan, P. (2021). Global virtual teams coordination mechanisms: building theory from research in software development. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2021.1909141
- Kilcullen, M., Feitosa, J., & Sals, E. (2021). Insights from the Virtual Team Science:

 Rapid Deployment During COVID-19. *Human Factors*, 1-12,

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720821991678
- Kleefstra, A. (2019). A Literature Review into Leadership Styles Discussed in the Past Five Years. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 7(6), 180-190. https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2019.76015
- Kock, N., Mayfield, M., Mayfield, J., Sexton, S., & De La Garza, L. M. (2019).
 Empathetic Leadership: HowLeader Emotional Support and Understanding
 Influences Follower Performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizzational* Studies, 26(2), 217-236. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818806290
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4. Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kowal, S. P., Bubela, T., & Jardine, C. (2017). Experiences in broker-facilitated

- participatory cross-culture and ethical challenges. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917706883
- Krawczyk-Brycka, B. (2017). Comparative study of traditional and virtual teams. *Faculty* of Management and Economics Gdansk University of Technology Narutowicza, 11(12), 80-233. https://doi.org/10.17466/tq2017/21.3/o
- Kropp, B. (2022). 11 Trends that Will Shape Work in 2022 and Beyond. *Harvard Business Review*, 1-12. https://hbr.org/2022/01/11-trenda-that-will-shape-work-in-2022-and-beyond
- Kumar, S. (2018). Literature review on leadership, leadership theories, style and leadership development. *International Journal of Research in Business*Management, 6, 2347-4572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leagua.2005.07.001.13
- Lacerenza, C., Marlo, S. L., & Salas, E. (2018). Team development interventions:

 Evidence-based approaches for improving teamwork. *American Psychologist*,

 73(4), 517-531. https://10.1037/amp0000295
- Larson, L., & DeChurch, I. A. (2020). Leading teams in the digital age: four perspectives on technology and what they mean for leaders. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *31*(1), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101337
- Latinen, K., & Valo, M. (2018). Meaning of communication technology in virtual team meetings: Framing technology-related interaction. *Human Computer Sciences*, 111, 12-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2017.10.012
- Laurent, J., Chmiel, N., & Hansez, I. (2021). Returning the Favor? Feeling Obliged and Reported Participation in Discretionay Safety Activities. *Frontiers in Psychology*,

- 12, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.674110
- Lemon, L. L., & Hayes, J. (2020). Enhancing trustworthiness of qualitative findings:

 Using Leximancer for qualitative data analysis triangulation. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(3), 604-614. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss3/3
- Levenson, A., & McLaughlin, P. (2020). New Leadership Challenges for the Virtual World of Work. https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/new-leadership-challenges-for-the-virtual-world-ofwork/
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology, 4*(1), 2-22. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082
- Liao, C. (2017). Leadership in virtual teams: A multilevel perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(4), 648-659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.010
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1986). But was it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Program*Evaluation, 30,73–84. http://doi.org/10.1002/ev.1427
- Lindsay, G. M., & Schwind, J. K. (2016). Narrative inquiry. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 48(1), 14-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/0844562116652230
- Lipnack, J., & Stamps, J. (1999). Virtual teams: Reaching across space, time and organizations with technology. Wiley.
- Lippert, H., & Dulwicz, V. (2018). A profile of high-performing global virtual teams.

 Team Performance Management: *An International Journal*, *3*(4), 169-185.

- http://www.emeraldinsight.com/1352-7592.htm.
- llker, E., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purpose. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Lau, M., Vuthaluru, R., Mui, L. Kerrigan, S., Kwong, T., Law, L., Wong, E. Y. W., & Gibson, D. (2021). How Online Teams with Diverse Backgrounds Worked to Excel: Findings from an International e Tournament. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10*, 1-10. https://10.3389/feduc.2021.624438
- Madrill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2017). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(3), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089
- Maduka, N. S., Edwards, H., Greenwood, D., Osborne, A., & Babatunde, S. O. (2018).

 Analysis of competencies for effective virtual team leadership in building successful organisations. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 25(2), 696–712. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2016-0124ge
- Magpili, N. C., & Pazos, P. (2018). Self-managing team performance: Systematic review of multilevel input factors. *Small Group Research*, 49(1), 3-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496417710500
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional materials methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362

- Malmqvist, J., Hellberg, K., Mollas, G., Rose, R., & Shevlin, M. (2019). Conducting the pilot study: A neglected part of the research process? Methodological findings supporting the importance of piloting in qualitative research studies. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919878341
- Mangla, N. (2021). Working in a pandemic and post-pandemic period Cultural intelligence is the key. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*. 21(1), 53-69. https://doi.org/10.1177/14705958211002877
- Marlow, S. L., Lacrenzaq, C. N., & Salas, E. (2017). Communication in virtual teams: A conceptual framework and research agenda. *Human Resource Management*, 27, 575-589. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.005
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing Qualitative Research (6th ed.). Sage.
- Mathieu, J., Hollenbeck, J. R., Knippenberg, D., & van Ilgen, D. (2017). A century of work teams in the journal of applied psychology. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 452-467. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000128
- Maxwell, J. A. (1992). Understanding and validity in qualitative research. *Harvard Educational Review*, 62(3), 279-300. http://gseweb.harvard.edu/%7Ehepg/her.html
- McLarnon, M. J. W., O'Neill, T. A., Taras, V., Law, D., Donia, M. B. L., & Steel, P.
 (2019). Global virtual team communication, coordination, and performance across three peer feedback strategies. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science. Revue Canadienne des Sciences Du Comportemente*, 51(4), 207-218.

https://doi.org/10.1037/cbs0000135

- McNurr, M., Cordova, F. A., & Allison, D. B. (2021). The Strategic Council for Researc Excellence, Integrity, and Trust. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States, 41*, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2116647118
- Mehtab, K., Reham, A. u., Ishfaq, S., & Jamil, R. A. (2017). Virtual leadership: A review paper. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(4), 183-193. https://doi.org/10.247/mjss-20180089
- Middleton, T. (2021). The importance of teamwork (as proven by science). *Work Life*, 1-6. https://www.atlassian.com/blog/teamwork/the-importance-of-teamwork
- Mikkelson, A. C., Sloan, D., & Hesse, C. (2019). Relational Communication Messages and Leadership Styles in Superior/Employee Relationships. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *56*(4), 586-604.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416687267
- Milner, J., McCarthy, G., & Milner, T. (2018). Training for the coaching leader: How organizations can support managers. *The Journal of Management Development,* 37(2), 188-200. https://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JMD-04-2017-0135
- Moalusi, K. (2020). Numbers conceal the intricacies in categorizing qualitative research in organizational studies: What lies beneath the surface? *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology/ SA Tydskrif vir Bedryfsielkunde, 46*(0), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v46i0.1692
- Mohr, S., & Shelton, K. (2017). Best practices framework for online faculty professional development: A Delphi study. *Online Learning*, *21*(4), 123-140.

https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i4.1273

- Morrison-Smith, S., & Ruiz, J. (2020). Challenges and barriers in virtual teams: A literature review. *SN Applied Sciences*, *2*(6), 1096. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-2801-5
- Motusky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in quantitative research? *American Psychological Association*, *9*(3), 389-406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of reseach*. The Department of Health and Human Services
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, *8*, 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Neubert, J. C., Mainert, J., Kretzschmar, A., & Greiff, S. (2015). The assessment of 21st century skills in industrial and organizational psychology: Complex and collaborative problem solving. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 8(2), 238-268. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2015.14
- Newman, S. A., Ford, R. C., & Marshall, G. W. (2020). Virtual team leader communication: Employee perception and organizational reality. *International Journal of Business Communication*, 57(4), 452-473. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488419829895

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

 Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 16(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- NVivo. (2018). Introducing the NVivo suite. http://gsinternational.com/nvivo/what-is-nvivo
- Nyirenda, L., Kumar. M. B., Theobald, S., Sarker, M., Simwinga, M., Kumwenda, M.,
 Johnson, C., Hatzold, H., Corbert, E. L., Sibanda, E., & Taegtmeyer, M. (2020).
 Using research networks to generate trustworthy qualitative public health research findings from multiple contexts. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(13), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0895-5
- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Leech, N. (2016). Taking the "Q" out of research: Teaching research methodology courses without the divide between quantitative and qualitative paradigms. *Quantity and Quality, 39*, 267-296. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-005-1098-1
- Orhan, M. A. (2017). The Evolution of Virtuality Phenomenon in Organisations: A Critical Literature Review. *Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review,* 5(4), 171-188. https://doi.org/10.15678/EBER.2017.050408
- Owens, D., & Khazanchi, D. (2017). Exploring the impact of technology capabilities on trust in virtual teams. *American Journal of Business*, *33*(4), 157-178. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJB-04-2017-0008
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1

- Patias, T. Z., Bobsin, D., Gomes, C. M., Liszbinski, B. B., & Damke, L. I. (2016). Family agro-industry clusters from the social innovation perspective. *Revista De Administração Mackenzie*, 17(6), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-69712016/administracao.v17n6p191-215
- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Inclusion and exclusion criteria in research studies: definitionsw and why they matter. *Journal brasileiro de pneumologia:* publicacao official da Sociedade Brasiliera de Pneumolgia e Tisilogia, 44(2), 84. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-3756201000000088
- Paul, J., & Jefferson, F. (A Comparative Analysis of Student Performance in an Online vs. Face-to-Face Environmental Science Course From 2009 to 2016. Frontiers in Computer Science, 1(7), 1-9. https://10.3389/fcomp.2019.00007
- Peifer, C., Pollak, A., Flal, O., Nisar, M. A., Irshad, M. T., Gregorzek, M., Kordyaka, B.,
 & Kozusznik, B. (2021). The Symphony of Team Flow in Virtual Teams. Using
 Artificial Intelligence for Its Recognition and Promotion. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.697093
- Petrucci, T., & Rivera, M. (2018). Leading growth through digital leader, in symposium:

 Envisioning future leadership: Utopia, dystopia, or more of the same. University of Phoenix.
- Peterson, M. B/., Bor, A., Jorgensen, F., & Lindhold, M. F. (2021). Transparent communication about negative features of COVID-19 vacines decreases acceptable but increase trust. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of*

- the United Statres of America, 29, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2024597118
- Phillipi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2018). A guide to field notes for qualitative research:

 Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(3), 381-388.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317697102
- Popenoe, R., Langius-Eklof, A, Stenwall, E., & Jervaeus, A. (2021). A practical guide to data analysis in general literature reviews. *Nordic Journal of Nursing Reseach*41(4), 175-186. https://doi.org/10.1177/2057158521991949
- Porchner, I. (2022). Quality in research through design projects: Recommendations for evaluation and enhancement. *ScienceDirect*, 78, 1-26.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2021.101061
- Powell, G. N. (2020). Work-family lockdown: Implications for a post-pandemic research agenda. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, *35*(7/8), 639-646. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-05-2020-0148
- Pullan, P. (2016). Virtual leadership. Computers & Applied Sciences Complete. *EBSCO* 58(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/HNOW/bww085.
- Purvanova, R. K., & Kenda, R. (2018). *Group & Organization Management, 43*(5), 752-786. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601118794102
- Quisenberry, W. L. (2018). Exploring how emotional intelligence contribute to virtual teams: Interpretive analysis of a phenomenological study. *European Scientific Journal*, *14*(5), 1857-7881. http://dx.doi.org/10.19044/esj.2018.v14n5p19
- Rahmadani, V. G., Schaufeli, W. B., Stouten, J., Zhang, Z., & Zulkarnain, Z. (2020).

 Engaging Leadership and its Implication for Work Engagement and Job

- Outcomes at the Individual and Team Level: A Multi-Level Longitudinal Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(3), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030776
- Rania, N., Coppola, I., & Pinna, L. (2021). Reflective Practices to Study Group
 Dynamics: Implement Empowerment and Understand the Functioning of Groups.
 Frontiers in Psychology, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.786754
- Regnault. A., Willgoss, T., & Barbic, S. (2018). Towards the use of mixed methods inquiry as best practice in health outcomes research. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 2(19), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-018-0043-8
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824-831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Reshetnikov, V. A., Tvorogova, N. D., Hersonskiy, I. I., Sokolov, N. A., Petrunin, A. D., & Drobyshev, D. A. (2020). Leadership and Emotional Intelligence: Current Trends in Public Health Professionals Training. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7, 107. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00413
- Rodriguez, J., & Walters, K. (2017). The importance of training and development in employee performance and evaluation. *World Wide Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development, 3*(10), 206-212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11227-015-1501-1
- Rodríguez-Mazahua, L., Rodríguez-Enríquez, C. A., Sánchez-Cervantes, J.L, Cervaquez, J., Garcia-Alcaraz, J. L., & Alor-Hernande, G. (2016). A general perspective of

- Big Data: applications, tools, challenges and trends. *The Journal of Supercomputing* 7, 3073–3113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11227-015-1501-1
- Roman, A. V., Van Wart, M., Wang, X., Liu, C., Kim, S., & McCarthy, A. (2018).

 Defining e-leadership as competence in ICT-mediated communications: An exploratory assessment. *Public Administration Review*.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12980.
- Roodt, H., Krug, H., & Otto, K. (2021). Subgroup Formation in Diverse Virtual Teams:

 The Moderating Role of Identity Leadership. *Frontiers in Psychology, 12*, 1-17.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.722650
- Roy, A. (2021). How Reliable is Speech to Text in 2021?. *CX Today*, 1-9. https://www.cxtoday.com/speech-analytics/how-reliable-is-speech-to-text-in-2021/#:~:text=As%20per%20benchmarks%20published%20in,scored%20a%20slightly%20better%2084%25.
- Saha, A. K. (2020). Interplay of Organizational Justice in the Managerial Effectiveness and Job Satisfaction. *ResearchGate*, 1-13.

 https://www.researchgate/net/publication/343480289
- Sanchez, P. R. P. (2017). Drivers and barriers of the cloud computing in SMEs: the position of the European Union. *Harvard Deusto Busines Research*. *6*(2), 116-132. https://doi.org/10.3926/hdbr.125
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H.,
 & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its
 conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893-1907.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8

- Savu, I. (2019). Amplifying performance in virtual teams optimizing communication strategies. *Research & Science Today*, *I*(1), 112-122.

 https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fsearch.proquest.co
 m%2Fdocview%2F2275917989%3Facc
- Saxena, R. (2017). Muddling through the passage of qualitative research: Experiences of a novice researcher. *Vision*, *21*(3), 314-322. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262917721423
- Schaubroeck, J. M., & Yu, A. (2017). When does virtuality help or hinder teams? Core team characteristics as contingency factors. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(4), 635-647. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr2016.12.009
- Schulze, J., & Krumm, S. (2016). The virtual team player: A review and initial model of knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics for virtual collaboration. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 7(1), 66–95.

 https://doi:10.1177/2041386616675522
- Schwarzmuller, T., Brosi, P., Dunman, D., & Welpe, I. M. (2018). How does the digital transformation affect organizations? Key themes of change in work design and leadership. *Management Review*, 29(2), 114-138. https://doi.org/10.5771/0935-9915-2018-2-114
- Sheeraz, M. I., Ahmad, U. N. U., Ishaq, M. I., Sarfraz, M., & Nor, K. Md. (2021). The Research on Organizational Justice in Scopus Indexed Journal: A Bibliometric Analysis of Seven Decades. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1-18.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.647845

- Serban, A., Yammarino, F. J., Dionne, S. D., Kahai, S. S., Hao, C., McHugh, K. A., Sotak, K. L., Mushore, A. B. R., & Peterson, D. R. (2015). Emergence in face-to-face and virtual teams: A multi-level model with agent-based simulations, quasi-experimental and experimental tests. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26(3), 402-418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.02.006
- Serrate, O. (2017). Knowledge Solutions: Tools, methods, and approaches to drive organizational performance. Springer Nature
- Shaik, F. F., & Makhecha, U. P. (2019). Drivers of employee engagement in global virtual teams. *Australasian Journal of Information Systems*, 23, 1-44. https://doi.org/10.3127/ajis.v23i0.1770
- Sharma, A., Rangarajan, D., & Paesbrugghe, B. (2020). Increasing resilience by creating an adaptive salesforce. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 88, 238-246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.05.023
- Shippers, M. C., & Rus, D. C. (2021). Majority Decision-Making Works Best Under

 Conditions of Leadership Ambiguity and Shared Task Representations. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.519296
- Shuffler, M. L., Diazgranados, D., Maynard, M. T., & Salas, E. (2018). Developing, sustaining, and maximizing team effectiveness: An integrative, dynamic perspective of team development interventions. *Academy of Management Annals*, 12(2), 688-724. https://doi.org/10.5465/annals.2016.0045
- Shwartz-Asher, D., & Ahituv, N. (2019). Comparison between face-to-face teams and

- virtual teams with respect to compliance with directives. Journal of Service and Management, 12(4), 549-571. https://doi.org/10.4236/jssm.2019.124038
- Sonmez Cakir, F., & Adiguzel, Z. (2020). Analysis of Leader Effectiveness in Organization and Knowledge Behavior on Employees and Organization. *SAGE*, *10*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020914634
- Spirco, J. (2019). How to Use Bracketing in Qualitative Research. ResearchGate, 1-12. https://www.theclassroom.com/use-bracketing-qualitative-research-7850523.html
- Stahl, G. K., & Maznevxki, M. L. (2021). Unraveling the effects of cultural diversity in teams: A retrospective of research on multicultural work groups and an agenda for future research. *Journal of International business Study*, *53*, 1-19.

 https://doi.orh/10.1057/s41267-020-00389-9
- Subramani, S. (2019). Practising reflexivity: Ethics, methodology and theory construction. *Methodological Innovations*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799119863276
- Sugden, J. (2020). Zoom fatigue was real. *The Wall Street Journal*. https://wsj.com/articles/zoom-fatigue
- Sylvester, C. (2019). Using Technology to Get the Most out of Virtual Teams. *network depot.com*, 1-8. https://www.networkdepot.com/virtual-teams-technology
- Synder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: Anoverview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 333-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.busres.2019.07.039
- Theofanidis, D., & Antigoni, F. (2019). Limitations and delimitations in the research

- process. *Perioperative nursing*, 7(3), 155-162. https://doi.org/10.5281/zendodo.2552022
- Thompson, G., & Glaso, L. (2018). Situational leadership theory: A test from the leader-follower congruence approach. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(5), 574-591. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2018-0060
- Toepfl, F. (2018). From connective to collective action: internet elections as a digital tool to centralize and formalize protest in Russia. Information *Communication*.

 Society. 21(4), 531–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1290127
- Tonin, M. (2020). Are workers motivated by the greater good? *IZA World of Labor*, 138. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.138.v2
- Topaloglu, M., & Anac, A. S. (2021). Exploring major factors affecting virtual team performance. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 6(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2021.6.5.1071
- Torre, T., & Sarti, D. (2020). The "Way" Toward E-Leadership: Some Evidence from the Field. *Frontiers in Psychology, 11*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.554253
- Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 80, 88-96.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014
- Van Wingerden, J., & Van der Stoep, J. (2018). The motivational potential meaningful work. Relationships with strengths use, work engagement, and performance.

 *Public Library of Science, 13(6), 1-8.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197599

- Van Zoonen, W., & Sivunen, Anu E. (2021). The impact of remote work and mediated communication frequency on isolation and psychological distress. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 1-13.
 https://goi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2021.2002299
- Valentinov, V., Verchragenen, G., & Van Assche, K. (2019). The limits of transparency:

 A systems theory view. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, *36*(3), 289-300. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2591
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 148. https://10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vidgen, R., Shaw, S., & Grant, D. B. (2017). Management challenges in creating value from business analytics. *European Journal Operational Research*, 261(2), 626-639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2017.02.023
- Vuban, J. A., & Eta, E. A. (2019). Negotiating access to research sites and participants within an African context: The case of Cameroon. *Research Ethics*, *15*(1), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016118798874
- Watkins, D., Earnhardt, M., Pittenger, L., Roberts, R., Rietsema, K., & Cosman-Ross, J. (2017). Thriving in complexity: A framework for leadership education. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *16*(4), 148-163. https://doi.org/1012806/V16/14/T4
- Weideman, M., & Hofmeyer, K. B. (2020). The influence of flexible work arrangements on employee engagement: An exploratory study. *SA Journal of Human Resources*

- Management, 18(4), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v18i0.1209
- World Economic Forum. (2017). Digital transformation initiative Unlocking \$ 100 trillion for business and society from digital transformation. *Executive Summary*, 1-71. http://reports.weforum.org/digital-transformation/wp-content/blogs.dir/94/mp/files/pages/files/dti-executive-summary-20180510.pdf
- Xu, A., Baysari, M. T., Stocker, S. L., Leow, L. J., Day, R. O., Carland, J. E. (2020).

 Researchers' views on, and experiences with, the requirement to obtain informed consent in research involving human participants: A qualitative study. *BMC*Medical Ethics 21(93), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00538-7
- Yan, Z., & Carless, D. (2021). Self-assessment is about more that self: the enabling role of feedback literacy. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 1-14.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.2001431
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and* methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yeong, M., Ismail, R., Ismail, N., & Hamzah, M. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine:-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(11), 2700-2713.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol123/iss11/7
- Zaharie, M. (2021). Challenges, trust and performance in virtual teams: Examining the role of openness to experience and preference for virtual teams. *Team Performance Management*, 27(3/4), 210-228. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-07-2020-0066

Zeuge, A., Weigel, A., Oschinsky, F., & Schlechtinger, M. (2020). Leading virtual teams

A literature review. *ResearchGate*, 1-9.

https://reseachgatenet/publicTION/343473371

- Zhao, Z., Salesse, R. N., Gueugnon, M., Schmidt, R. C., Marin, L., & Bardy, B. G. (2015). Moving attractive virtual agent improves interpersonal coordination stability. *Human Movement Science*, 41, 240-254.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2015.03.012
- Zhu, X., & Lee, K. (2017). Global virtual team performance, shared leadership, and trust: proposing a conceptual framework. *The Business and Management Review*, 8(4), 31-38.

http://researchgate.net/publication/317265117_Global_virtual_team_performance_sharedleadership and trust proposing a conceptual framework_

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Title: Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual

Advertising Account Executives

Before receiving IRB approval from Walden University, I appointed my doctoral chair to assess my interview protocol's depth, and I made any changes identified by the chair. Each meeting began with a welcome and introduction. I reviewed the consent form with each participant to determine if there were questions or to offer more information on the interview's format. Before asking the 10 interview questions, I introduced myself and defined the study's reasoning and background. Each participant described their roles as virtual leaders. The introduction process offered each participant the opportunity to become comfortable before the questioning began. My goal was to have each participant feel at ease and calm in answering the interview questions. I explained to each participant that my goal in the interviews was to accurately record factual data regarding how they led their virtual teams. Participants were reminded repeatedly throughout the interview that they could withdraw from the study at any time during the research process.

Zoom meetings had an audio and visual recording capability. Also, Zoom capabilities included a speech-to-text function. The speech-to-text function, under ideal circumstances, is 89% accurate (Roy, 2021). Member checking was an essential step in the process of validating transcripts. Once the speech-to-text interviews were complete, I added any journal notes made during the interviews. The participants were encouraged to read my interpretation of their interviews. After each participant read the transcript, I scheduled member checking follow-up meetings to address discrepancies or add other

definitions to each of the 10 questions. I made changes, based on their responses, to accurately reflect their interview responses. I uploaded the interview transcripts into NVivo software after the member checking process and analyzed the data.

I expected that the semistructured questions would induce other questions and a curiosity to dive deeper into each question. The interview questions are as follows:

- 1. What communication strategies did you use in developing trust with the goal of maintaining productivity?
- 2. What communications strategies did you use to assess the productivity of the virtual sales team members?
- 3. What communication strategies did you use with virtual sales team members who were not maintaining productivity?
- 4. What communication strategies did you implement to validate that everyone on your virtual sales team had a working knowledge of maintaining productivity?
- 5. What communication strategies did you use with virtual sales team members to exceed expectations and maintain productivity?
- 6. What communication strategies were least effective in motivating virtual sales team members to maintain productivity?
- 7. What communication strategies did you use to follow up with virtual sales team members for maintaining productivity?
- 8. What communication strategies did you use to reduce risks and uncertainty in maintaining your virtual teams' productivity?

- 9. What communication strategies, if any, did you use to manage disputes between what you, as a leader, have defined as acceptable methods of maintaining productivity and what your virtual sales teams think is fair?
- 10. What additional information about communication strategies you use to maintain your virtual sales teams' productivity would you like to share that we did not address in this interview?

At the close of each interview, I thanked each participant for their time and interest in the study.

Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation

Email Requesting Permission to Conduct Research Study

Online Automotive Industry:
Contact Information:
Date:
Dear Gregory Scott Christman
Based on your review of your research proposal, I permit for you to conduct the study
entitled Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual Advertising
Account Executives within(Organizations' Name). As a part
of this study, I authorize Gregory Scott Christman (Student Researcher) to recruit, do on-
site and/or Zoom interviews, retrieve and use our company's non-confidential documents,
including internal newsletters, promotional materials, marketing plans, and reports that could provide additional information for your study.
We at (Organizations' Name) agree to primary
researcher's data collection procedures:
• Standard Procedure: Before contacting participants, the researcher will obtain approval from IRB.
• Recruitment: After obtaining IRB approval, he plans to recruit participants by calling the Area Vice President and requesting each leader's email address and phone number.
• After gaining access to emails or speaking with the leaders, he will send out an email introducing himself and informing the leaders that he is doing a study on Communication Strategies to Enhance Productivity for Virtual Advertising Account Executives.
• In his initial contact with the leaders, he will ask for permission to explain the title, background, confidentiality, and consent form.
We at (Organizations' Name) agree to primary
researcher's data collection procedures:
We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: Provide knowledgeable
Leaders, a secure and private interview location (if needed): resources, and any necessary
needs to meet the researcher's data collection. We reserve the right to withdraw from the
study at any time if our circumstances change.

I understand that the student will not be naming our organization in the doctoral project report published in ProQuest.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,	(Authorizing Official) Title
	(Email Address)

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. The Uniform Electronic Transaction Act regulates electronic signatures. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the email's sender or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, email address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., email address officially on file with Walden).